



# TECHNICAL REPORT

# **HIV testing in Europe**

Evaluation of the impact of the ECDC guidance on *HIV testing:* increasing uptake and effectiveness in the European Union

www.ecdc.europa.eu

# **ECDC** TECHNICAL REPORT

# **HIV testing in Europe**

Evaluation of the impact of the ECDC guidance on *HIV testing: increasing uptake and effectiveness in the European Union* 



This report was commissioned by the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC), coordinated by Lara Tavoschi with the support of Andrew Amato, Goritsa Zatlanova, Otilia Mardh, Anastasia Pharris, Helena de Carvalho Gomes, Teymur Noori, Caroline Daamen and the ECDC Library. It was produced by HIV in Europe and authored by Ann Sullivan, St Stephen's AIDS Trust, London, UK; Dorthe Raben Ida Sperle and Stine Finne Jakobsen, CHIP, Rigshospitalet, University of Copenhagen, Denmark.

#### Acknowledgements

ECDC would like to thank the Expert Panel Members for their contribution and valuable inputs: Maria Axelsson, Sweden; Tamas Bereczky, Hungary; Jordi Casabona, Spain; Lella Cosmaro, Italy; Monica Dan, Romania; Silke David, the Netherlands; Nikos Dedes, Greece; Johann Fontaine, Germany; Deniz Gokengin, Turkey; Catherine Issaris, Greece; Cary James, United Kingdom; Lali Khotenashvili, World Health Organization; Irena Klavs, Slovenia; Justyna Kowalska, Poland; Jens Lundgren, Denmark; Kristi Rüütel, Estonia; Anna Zakowicz, the Netherlands.

ECDC would like to thank Valery Delpech, United Kingdom; Vasileia Konte, Greece; Kristi Rüütel, Estonia; Cary James, United Kingdom; Laura Fernandez, Spain; Adélie Dorseuil, Norway; Kathy Attawell, United Kingdom; for piloting the survey.

ECDC gratefully thanks all the contact points in the Member States and EU/EEA professionals for responding to the survey questionnaire.

The annexes referenced in this report can be found as separate documents linked to this publication under the HIV health topic <u>http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/healthtopics/aids/Pages/publications.aspx</u>

Erratum 10 January 2017. Table 15: the percentages in the second column, row 1 and 3 were corrected.

Suggested citation: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. HIV testing in Europe. Evaluation of the impact of the ECDC guidance on HIV testing: increasing uptake and effectiveness in the European Union. Stockholm: ECDC; 2016.

Stockholm, November 2016 ISBN 978-92-9193-996-1 doi 10.2900/818448 Catalogue number TQ-01-16-941-EN-N

© European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 2016 Reproduction is authorised, provided the source is acknowledged

# Contents

Figures	iii
Abbreviations	iv
Kev terms	iv
Executive summary	1
1. Introduction	3
2. Methods	6
3. Results	13
4. Discussion	
5. Conclusion and recommendations	
References	

# **Figures**

Figure 1. Overview of data collection and evaluation process	8
Figure 2. Target audiences	9
Figure 3. Primary Target Group respondents (N=28)	
Figure 4. Broader Target Group respondents (N=51)	14
Figure 5. Financing of existing HIV testing programmes (N=23)	17
Figure 6. Most relevant international HIV testing guidelines/guidance	
Figure 7. Relevance of ECDC 2010 guidance in 2010 and 2015	21
Figure 8. Reported usability of the ECDC 2010 guidance by the Primary Target Group (N=28)	22
Figure 10. Utilisation of core principles in the ECDC 2010 guidance*	25
Figure 11. Areas/topics to be added/prioritised*	

# **Tables**

Table 1. Sections in the ECDC 2010 guidance	3
Table 2. Aim and objectives	5
Table 3. Summary of methods used to address specific questions	6
Table 4. Summary of moderated topics during the focus group discussions	.10
Table 5. Sectors and countries in which respondents work (N=28)	.13
Table 6. Sectors and countries in which respondents work (N=51)	.14
Table 7. Documents reported most used nationally (N=28)	.15
Table 8. Most-used documents uploaded by Primary Target Group-Member State respondents	.16
Table 9. Elements included in HIV testing practice (N=23)*	.18
Table 10. Awareness and use of ECDC testing guidance*	.19
Table 11. Number of citations received per year	.20
Table 12. Guidance citation content	.20
Table 13. Areas for which the ECDC 2010 guidance was considered to be relevant*	.21
Table 14. Extent to which the ECDC guidance is aligned with recommendations and/or technical content of the	
most widely used national policy/guidelines in their country (N=23)	.23
Table 15. Reported use of the ECDC 2010 guidance*	.24
Table 16. Parts of the ECDC 2010 guidance utilised*	.24
Table 17. Description of observed changes in HIV testing practices since 2010	.26
Table 18. Importance of having an EU-level HIV testing guidance	.27
Table 19. Added value afforded by the ECDC 2010 guidance	.28
Table 20. Topics to include in an updated ECDC testing guidance	.29
Table 21. Updated ECDC testing guidance: proposed set of complementary products	.30
Table 22. How to improve dissemination of the ECDC 2010 guidance	.30
Table 23. Proposed strategies for dissemination and engagement of target audience	.31
Table 24. The role of ECDC and type of guidance needed	.31

# Abbreviations

AIDS	Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome
ART	Antiretroviral therapy
CD4	Cluster of differentiation 4
CSO(s)	Civil Society Organisation(s)
EACS	European AIDS Clinical Society
EEA	European Economic Area
EU	European Union
HIDES	HIV Indicator Diseases Across Europe
HiE	HIV in Europe
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
IUSTI	International Union against Sexually Transmitted Infections
IV	Intravenous
MSM	Men who have sex with men
NGO(s)	Non-governmental organisation(s)
OptTEST	Optimising testing and linkage to care for HIV across Europe
PEP	Post-exposure prophylaxis
PrEP	Pre-exposure prophylaxis
PLHIV	People living with HIV
PWID	People who inject drugs
STI(s)	Sexually transmitted infection(s)
ТВ	Tuberculosis
TESSy	The European Surveillance System
UNAIDS	the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS
UNODC	United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime
WHO	World Health Organization

# **Key terms**

Advocacy: Actions that seek to engage with decision makers and influence policies.

**Best practice examples**: HIV testing service models or case studies from EU/EEA Member States effectively increasing testing coverage and/or uptake and/or linkage to care in one or more target groups.

**Broader Target Group**: Includes representatives from a broad array of organisations and institutions at international and EU level and at national and local level

**Evaluation:** A collection of activities designed to determine the value or worth of a specific programme, intervention or project.

**Guidelines**: Are normative recommended, but non-mandatory standards, e.g. operational recommendations for healthcare workers conducting HIV testing.

Indicator: A measure used to determine, over time, performance of functions, processes, and outcomes.

**Indicator condition-guided HIV testing:** Routine HIV testing of individuals who attend healthcare settings with certain medical conditions linked to possible undetected HIV infection, e.g. STI, Hepatitis B and C.

**Monitoring:** Refers to the simple description, counting, and tracking of processes or events, without in-depth analysis or comparisons.

**Most at-risk groups**: Populations that are at-risk of HIV given their behaviour or the environment they live in. They usually include men who have sex with men, people who inject drugs, sex workers, people with other STIs, people with multiple sex partners, sex partners of HIV-infected persons, and people originating from high HIV prevalence areas. However groups most at risk may differ depending on the country.

Normalisation of HIV testing: Making the process similar to other screening and diagnostic tests.

**Policy:** E.g. a national testing policy that is targeted towards health professionals ordering HIV related tests, and receiving and interpreting results, which sets out the framework for providing quality testing and removing real and perceived barriers to testing, including ethical issues.

**Primary Target Group:** Includes national policymakers, programme managers and decision makers such as the Ministry of Health, HIV specialists and the National Board of Health. The group also includes ECDC national focal points for HIV and STI, the ECDC HIV and STI Disease Network experts, as well as other relevant national policymakers and/or programme managers (for example STI or TB/Hepatitis programme managers)

**Programme:** A combination of interventions or activities that a country establishes as a fundamental part of its structure and mission. Programmes tend to focus on a specific area (e.g. improving HIV testing rates) and operate over the long term.

Services: Sub-national testing services or general HIV testing services in the healthcare system.

**Strategy**: A comprehensive action plan that identifies critical goals and objectives, and defines actions to achieve these, e.g. a five-year plan that details principles, priorities, and actions to guide the collective national response to the HIV epidemic.

# **Executive summary**

In response to the continuous challenges in HIV testing across Europe, the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) commissioned the development of the ECDC guidance *HIV testing: increasing uptake and effectiveness in the European Union* [1] which was published in December 2010 in parallel with a literature review, *HIV testing: increasing uptake and effectiveness in the European Union. Evidence synthesis for Guidance on HIV testing [2]*.

The guidance was designed to inform the development, monitoring and evaluation of national HIV testing strategies or programmes in the European Union (EU) and European Economic Area (EEA) Member States. The 2010 ECDC HIV testing guidance describes its primary target audience as EU/EEA Member State stakeholders including policymakers, national programme managers/coordinators, decision-makers and ECDC national focal points and disease network experts.

In 2015, ECDC commissioned an evaluation of the *HIV testing: increasing uptake and effectiveness in the European Union* guidance. The aim of the evaluation was to understand the use and impact of the 2010 ECDC HIV testing guidance in the EU/EEA, and to make recommendations for future steps by ECDC in this area, including, potentially, an updated guidance.

The evaluation, conducted by a team within the HIV in Europe<sup>1</sup> initiative (HiE), was based on a number of activities. A survey was distributed in October 2015 to nominated EU/EEA Member State representatives, the Primary Target Group, and to a Broader Target Group of representatives from organisations and institutions active in the field of HIV testing across the EU/EEA, asking respondents about use and impact of the guidance. Qualitative data were collected from moderated focus group discussions at the European AIDS Clinical Society (EACS) Conference in Barcelona in October 2015. A review of webpage access data and literature citation was performed. Finally, an ECDC expert meeting was held in Stockholm in January 2016.

Twenty-eight Primary Target Group respondents from 23 of the 31 EU/EEA Member States submitted the ECDC 2010 guidance evaluation survey. Twenty-four of the 28 Primary Target Group respondents reported working in the public health sector (86%). Fifty-one Broader Target Group respondents from 18 EU/EEA countries and one multinational organisation (WHO) submitted the ECDC 2010 guidance evaluation survey. Twenty-three of 51 Broader Target Group respondents (45%) reported working in an NGO and 18 of 51 (35%) in the public health sector.

The results of the survey showed that Primary Target Group respondents reported that the most utilised HIV testing documents at a national level are:

- a national HIV strategy/policy that includes recommendations on testing (68%)
- a national HIV testing guidelines document (57%)
- guidelines on HIV testing issued by professional societies (50%).

All primary and most broader target group respondents indicated having knowledge of the existence of the ECDC HIV testing guidance (100% and 82%, respectively); almost half reported having used the guidance in their work and/or having distributed the guidance to their networks.

The majority of both primary and Broader Target Group respondents (82 and 61%, respectively) reported the 2010 ECDC HIV testing guidance as the most relevant among international guidelines, and although published more than 5 years ago, most still considered it relevant today.

The majority agreed the ECDC 2010 guidance was easily accessible, user-friendly and clearly written, and had a clear structure and format. A higher percentage in the Broader Target Group (>30%) found it problematic that the guidance was not available in their own language than in the Primary Target Group (11%).

Thirteen of 28 (46%) of the Primary Target Group respondents reported having used the ECDC 2010 guidance for the development, monitoring and/or evaluation of their national HIV testing policy/guidelines/programme/strategy. Twenty-nine of 51 (56%) of the Broader Target Group respondents reported having used the ECDC 2010 guidance for developing information materials or advocacy activities.

The majority of both primary and Broader Target Group respondents have observed important changes, and some considered the ECDC guidance as having contributed to these.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>http://hiveurope.eu/</u>

More than half of Member States (13/23; 57%) indicated that their national guidelines are closely or somewhat closely aligned to the 2010 ECDC guidance, including guidance on, for example, voluntary and confidential testing, counselling, access to care and testing of pregnant women and at risk populations. Other important topics from the 2010 ECDC HIV testing guidance, which are reported to be less frequently included in national testing guidelines or programmes are recommendations on offering HIV testing in general practice (35%), testing frequency (30%), HIV testing in emergency departments (17%) and on normalisation of HIV testing through less demanding counselling requirements (17%). Almost half of Member States (48%) reported inclusion of indicator condition-guided (IC) HIV testing, and 39% reported having a monitoring and evaluation programme in place.

A large majority of primary (82%) and broader (90%) target group respondents considered it important to have an EU level HIV testing guidance, in particular for developing national guidelines and programmes (84% and 72%), for advocacy (56% and 62%) and monitoring and evaluation purposes (48% and 52%, respectively).

Respondents indicated several areas where ECDC could play an important role in relation to HIV testing, including a recommendation to publish an updated guidance. It was recommended that this should include guidance on new testing technologies and approaches. It was a common view, particularly among Primary Target Group respondents, that an improved monitoring and evaluation framework is needed. Both groups of respondents, but to a greater extent the Broader Target Group, suggested including service models examples from the EU/EEA. Also, regular updates of the guidance document would be needed to account for changes in the rapidly evolving field of HIV testing, and to increase its relevance and use.

Possible limitations to the evaluation exercise include response bias, with individuals more familiar with the guidance being more likely to complete the survey and/or participate in focus groups. The survey was rolled out in English only and this may have constituted a significant barrier to engagement. The number of Broader Target Group respondents was lower than anticipated and the overall EU/EEA geographical coverage was limited. As a result, the representativeness of the sample may have been sub-optimal and caution must be applied when extrapolating these findings to the whole EU/EEA.

In conclusion, the results of this evaluation showed that the ECDC 2010 guidance has been referenced and widely used to develop policies, guidelines and/or programmes/strategies in the EU/EEA. The findings suggest that it has contributed to changes in HIV testing strategies across EU/EEA countries. In addition, the ECDC 2010 guidance has reached a wider audience than intended and has proven to be useful to a broader range of stakeholders, as an authoritative reference document as well as for advocacy purposes. According to the evaluation findings, the ECDC 2010 guidance was considered relevant and of added value by a wide range of stakeholders as it provides a unique EU-level perspective. Updating the guidance and developing complementary products was identified as an urgent need and recommended for future ECDC action.

# **1. Introduction**

# **1.1 Overview**

In 2015, ECDC commissioned an evaluation of the ECDC guidance *HIV testing: increasing uptake and effectiveness in the European Union* published in December 2010. The aim of the evaluation was to review the impact of the ECDC 2010 guidance and to assess the current need for ECDC HIV testing guidance in the EU/EEA.

This technical report presents the findings and conclusions from the evaluation. It presents the results of a survey of primary and Broader Target Groups on the use and impact of the guidance, an analysis of citations and webpage access of the guidance, and a qualitative analysis of moderated focus group discussions with key informants about awareness and use of the guidance. An ECDC hosted Expert Panel meeting was held in order to review and discuss the results of the interim analysis and contribute to the interpretation of the findings and advice on next steps.

This report concludes with a list of recommendations for the next steps for ECDC in guidance on HIV testing.

# **1.2 ECDC HIV testing guidance in the EU/EEA 2010**

In response to the continuous challenges in HIV testing across Europe, ECDC commissioned the HIV testing guidance launched in 2010, which was published in parallel with a guidance in brief, and the technical report of the literature review, *HIV testing: increasing uptake and effectiveness in the European Union. Evidence synthesis for Guidance on HIV testing* [2].

The ECDC 2010 guidance was designed to inform the development, monitoring and evaluation of national HIV testing strategies or programmes in the EU/EEA. The primary target audience of the guidance was EU/EEA Member States stakeholders including policymakers, national programme managers and coordinators, decision-makers, ECDC national focal points and ECDC disease network experts.

The ECDC 2010 guidance contains the following sections related to HIV testing strategies and programmes: 1) core principles; 2) development of a national HIV testing strategy; 3) ensuring access to HIV treatment, care and prevention and 4) monitoring and evaluation (Table 1).

#### Table 1. Sections in the ECDC 2010 guidance

Core principles for national HIV testing strategies and programmes
HIV testing should be voluntary, confidential and with informed consent
Ensure access to treatment, care and prevention services
Show political commitment
Reduce stigma
Remove legal barriers
Remove financial barriers
Make access to HIV testing an integral part of national strategies
Develop and implement an HIV testing strategy with the participation of stakeholders
Developing a national HIV testing strategy
Whom to test? (identify groups most at risk)
Where to test? (offer testing in a variety of settings)
When to test? (testing frequency)
How to test? (awareness, confidentiality, counselling, results)
Routine offering in general practice
Routine offering in emergency departments
Outreach services/community based testing
Ensuring access to HIV treatment, care and prevention
Access to antiretroviral therapy (ART), psychosocial support and prevention services
Monitoring and evaluation
Assessing local level initiatives
Appendices
Appendix A. Table 1. Monitoring and evaluation at the national/international level
Table 2. Monitoring and evaluation in specific settings
Appendix B. Clinical indicator conditions for HIV Infection. Table 3. AIDS-defining illness and other illnesses strongly associated with immunodeficiency in HIV-infected populations
Table 4. HTV prevalence in patients with clinical indicator conditions in Europe

The ECDC 2010 guidance was officially launched at an ECDC seminar on World AIDS Day (1 December 2010) in the European Parliament. At this seminar, leading HIV experts and EU policymakers in Europe gathered to discuss the importance and benefits of increasing access to HIV testing. The guidance was made available for download from the ECDC website and uploaded to the AIDS Center website. Hard copies of the ECDC 2010 guidance were distributed via the ECDC standard recipient and HIV specific circulation lists to 473 recipients in total, as well as to the relay centres specialising in public health.

# 1.3 Setting the scene: data and trends in HIV testing

Data on the number of HIV tests by country and risk groups are scarce and not all countries routinely collect these data; making analysis of changes over time and by country and region difficult. Data on the number of tests performed are collected annually through The European Surveillance System (TESSy) and reported in the ECDC annual surveillance report [3]. Nevertheless, the lack of a standard approach in collection methods across the EU/EEA hinders the ability to perform comparative and trend analyses.

Since 2012, ECDC has been monitoring implementation of the Dublin Declaration on partnership to fight HIV/AIDS in Europe and Central Asia. HIV testing coverage and uptake are key indicators to monitor the effectiveness of the response in the region. According to the latest report [4], testing coverage remains low as indicated by the reported low rates of testing in key populations, and the high rate of late diagnosis (up to 47%) among those who test positive.

Despite the observed small increase in the total number of tests performed [3,5], targeting HIV testing programmes to those who are most at risk remains a challenge in many countries. This may be due to lack, or ineffective use, of data on key populations who are at increased risk of HIV infection, or to barriers in effectively reaching those groups with testing services.

The most recent ECDC HIV/AIDS surveillance report shows no decline in the number of new HIV diagnoses in the region the last 10 years [3]. Data on late presentation for HIV care (CD4 <350 cells/uL) have been routinely collected by ECDC since 2010, although not all countries report these data. The proportion of late presenters is a good proxy for evaluating the effectiveness of a testing strategy. In 2013, the most comprehensive study on late presentation was published using data from January 2000–January 2011 from the Collaboration of Observational HIV Epidemiological Research Europe (COHERE) cohort collaboration of more than 80 000 HIV patients across Europe. The study showed that late presentation decreased among men who have sex with men (MSM) and heterosexuals in both Central and Northern Europe, increased among female heterosexuals and males who inject drugs in Southern Europe and also increased among people who inject drugs (PWID) in Eastern Europe [6]. A recently published update of this study with patients enrolled from 1 January 2010 found that 47.5% were presenting late for care, reflecting no overall change in the late presentation across Europe. Furthermore, the analysis showed that late presentation has increased significantly in PWID, but decreased in Northern Europe compared with other regions of Europe [7].

In addition to the above, new technologies and new approaches to the implementation of testing [8] have emerged since 2010. These include :

- more sensitive tests and improved home sampling and testing devices
- evidence for clinically-based strategies including new evidence on indicator condition (IC) guided testing and (lack of) linkage to care
- wider acceptance of and evidence supporting task sharing and diversification of testing approaches including testing in non-traditional settings (e.g. peer led community based testing)
- debate around pre-test counselling/discussion.

# 1.4 Aim of the 2010 ECDC HIV testing guidance evaluation

The aim and objectives of this evaluation, five years after the publication of the ECDC 2010 guidance, are to understand the use and impact of the ECDC 2010 guidance in the EU/EEA, and to make recommendations for future steps by ECDC in this area, including the need for and possible content of an updated guidance.

## **Conceptual overview**

Research questions were developed on the basis of the aim and objectives of the evaluation (Table 2).

### Table 2. Aim and objectives

Aim	Objectives
Understanding the use and impact of the ECDC 2010 testing guidance in the EU/EEA and to make any recommendation for future steps by ECDC in this area, including the need for and possible content of an updated guidance.	Assess the relevance and usability of the ECDC 2010 guidance for the Primary Target Group, i.e. national experts, programme managers and policymakers.
	Assess the relevance and usability of the ECDC 2010 guidance for a Broader Target Group, e.g. non-governmental organisations (NGOs), clinicians and international agencies.
	Assess awareness of the ECDC 2010 guidance among the Primary Target Group and the Broader Target Group.
	Assess to what extent the guidance has added value to or complemented existing documents.
	Assess the impact of the ECDC 2010 guidance on supporting the development, monitoring and evaluation of national HIV testing strategies or programmes in EU/EEA countries.

# 2. Methods

The evaluation methodology was adapted from a previous ECDC project (Chlamydia guidance impact evaluation<sup>2</sup>) and from the European Commission 'Better Regulation Toolbox'3. The conceptual framework for this work is summarised in Table 3 below.

Table 3. Sur	nmary of meth	ods used to a	ddress specific	questions
--------------	---------------	---------------	-----------------	-----------

Primary evaluation questions	Source of information	Indicators and qualitative input
Awareness (section 3.3.1): What is the level of awareness about the ECDC 2010 guidance among the primary and the Broader Target Group?	Survey data (Primary and Broader Target Groups) Web page and citation analysis data Analysis of national guidelines	<ul> <li>% of respondents indicating awareness of the ECDC</li> <li>2010 guidance by having: <ul> <li>knowledge of its existence</li> <li>accessed it</li> <li>discussed it in professional settings/networks</li> <li>used it in their work</li> <li>distributed it to national/professional networks</li> <li>citations in national documents</li> <li>translated the guidance into local/common language</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
	Free text answers in surveys Qualitative data from moderated focus group discussions Expert panel consultation	Qualitative input on the perceived level of awareness and possible reasons for high/low awareness.
Relevance (section 3.3.3):	Survey data (Primary and Broader	% of respondents indicating that the ECDC 2010
Does the HIV testing guidance address the needs of Member States in developing, monitoring and evaluating HIV testing strategies and/or programmes? Does the ECDC 2010 guidance address	Target Groups)	<ul> <li>guidance was relevant for their work on:</li> <li>developing a national HIV testing policy/strategy/programme</li> <li>monitoring their national HIV testing policy/strategy/programme</li> <li>evaluating their national HIV testing policy/strategy/programme</li> </ul>
in developing, monitoring, evaluating or advocating for HIV testing strategies and programmes	Qualitative data from moderated focus group discussions Expert panel consultation	Qualitative input on aspects of the guidance in terms of relevance and usefulness.
Coherence/complementarity (section 3.3.5): To what extent is the ECDC 2010 guidance aligned and complementary to existing documents and interventions?	Survey data (Primary and Broader Target Groups)	% of respondents indicating that their national HIV testing policy/guidelines/ programmes align with the ECDC 2010 guidance
	Free text answers in surveys Qualitative data from moderated focus group discussions Analysis of national policy documents by HiE	Qualitative input on the guidance's alignment and factors that may explain the extent of use

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Chlamydia control in Europe: Qualitative evaluation of the impact of the 2009 ECDC guidance. Available at: http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/ layouts/forms/Publication\_DispForm.aspx?List=4f55ad51-4aed-4d32-b960af70113dbb90&ID=1284 <sup>3</sup> European Commission Better Regulation Agenda. Available at: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/smart-regulation/index\_en.htm</u>

Primary evaluation questions	Source of information	Indicators and qualitative input
Effectiveness/impact (3.3.6): What was the impact of the ECDC 2010 guidance on developing, monitoring and evaluating HIV testing strategies and/or programmes at a national level? How was the ECDC 2010 guidance used, if at all, by the primary/Broader Target Group?	Survey data (Primary and Broader Target Groups) Analysis of selected national policy documents	<ul> <li>% of respondents indicating <u>no use</u> of the ECDC 2010 guidance in their work, due to: <ul> <li>lack of awareness</li> <li>a national testing policy/strategy was already in place</li> <li>the release was untimely</li> <li>it not being aligned with existing national HIV testing policy/strategy</li> <li>using other guideline documents</li> <li>other</li> </ul> </li> <li>% of respondents indicating <u>use of</u> the ECDC HIV testing guidance document in their work on national testing policy/strategy/ programme in respect of: <ul> <li>development</li> <li>revision</li> <li>monitoring</li> <li>evaluation</li> <li>advocacy</li> </ul> </li> <li>% of respondents indicating that usage of the ECDC 2010 guidance in their work led to changes in national HIV testing policies/strategies/ programmes within the areas of: <ul> <li>testing strategies</li> <li>monitoring testing</li> <li>evaluation of testing</li> <li>advocacy for testing</li> <li>% of respondents indicating that their country has produced ECDC 2010 guidance to do so.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
	Free text answers in surveys Qualitative data from moderated focus group discussions Expert panel consultation	Qualitative input on the possible use of the guidance, factors hindering use, and any possible impact on testing.
<b>EU added value (3.4.1):</b> Was there any added value of the ECDC guidance for the primary/Broader Target Group? What was, if any, the added value of	Survey data (Primary Target Group)	% of respondents indicating that the ECDC 2010 guidance has been useful in their work to develop HIV testing policies at the national level.
products at national or international level (e.g. national guidance, WHO guidance)?	Survey data (Broader Target Group)	% of respondents indicating that the ECDC 2010 guidance has been or is useful in their work to advocate for HIV testing influence policymakers raise awareness
	Survey data (Primary and Broader Target Groups)	% of respondents indicating that the ECDC 2010 guidance is important for improving HIV testing in their country is: very important important not important
	Free text answers in surveys Qualitative data from moderated focus group discussions Expert panel consultation	Qualitative input on the guidance's EU status provides added value, e.g. whether it is considered important that a guidance exists at EU level.
<b>Usability (3.3.4)</b> : Was the ECDC 2010 guidance designed to respond to users' needs?	Survey data (Primary and Broader Target Groups)	<ul> <li>% respondents indicating that the ECDC 2010 guidance was <ul> <li>in a user friendly format</li> <li>written in accessible/comprehensible language</li> <li>contained sufficient details</li> <li>was brief and easy to read</li> <li>was easily accessible as a report</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
	Free text answers in surveys Qualitative data from focus group Expert panel consultation	Qualitative input on the usability of the ECDC 2010 guidance, its format and suggestions for any changes in its format.

# 2.1 Methods for data collection

In order to answer the primary evaluation questions (Table 3), different methods were employed to collect and analyse the data (Figure 1). Based on a mixed methods approach the following data were collected:

- quantitative survey data (Primary Target Group/Broader Target Group)
- qualitative data from moderated focus group discussions (at the EACS conference in Barcelona in October 2015)
- webpage access data and review of literature citation
- expert consultation meeting (28–29 January 2016).

Two surveys were developed, reflecting the different backgrounds and potential use in the two target groups (Primary and Broader), and therefore some questions differed between the two surveys (Table 3).

Additionally, there were complementary data from other sources including national testing polices or guidelines and research activities conducted by HIV in Europe (HiE), such as findings from the HIV Indicator Diseases Across Europe (HIDES) study [9,10] and the OptTEST survey<sup>4</sup> on national HIV testing. Results from these have been incorporated into the discussion of the evaluation findings. In addition to the most-used guidelines uploaded by survey respondents, the Study Group searched online to find national HIV testing guidelines for a review and comparison, further explained in section 2.7.

#### Figure 1. Overview of data collection and evaluation process



# 2.2 Target group of respondents for the analysis

The Primary Target Group for the ECDC 2010 guidance evaluation was designed to match the guidance target audience (Figure 2). It included ECDC national focal points for HIV and STI and ECDC HIV and STI Disease Network experts, as well as other relevant national policymakers and/or programme managers (for example STI or TB/Hepatitis programme managers).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>http://www.opttest.eu/</u>

The Broader Target Group includes representatives from a broad array of organisations and institutions (Figure 2):

At international/EU level:

- WHO Regional Office for Europe/WHO Headquarters
- The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC)
- Professional bodies (e.g. European AIDS Clinical Society EACS)
- Clinical specialities (HIV, STI, TB, hepatitis)
- EU agencies (e.g. The European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction Reitox network)
- NGOs and civil society organisations (CSOs) for example, Civil Society Forum, Eurasian Harm Reduction Network, Aids Action Europe, European AIDS Treatment Group, Global Network of People living with HIV, Network of Low HIV Prevalence Countries in Central and South-east Europe, International Union against Sexually Transmitted Infections (IUSTI).

At national/local level:

- Institutions responsible for clinical guidance dissemination/quality management in healthcare (e.g. universities, research institutions and clinical departments)
- Local public health stakeholders (e.g. NGOs/CSOs working with specific target groups, Checkpoints)
- People Living with HIV (PLHIV) organisations and organisations for other vulnerable groups (Sex workers and men who have sex with men)

#### Figure 2. Target audiences



# 2.3 Survey

Two structured surveys were developed: one targeting the Primary Target Group and one targeting the Broader Target Group (Annex 1-2 – see note on page ii). The indicators listed in Table 3 formed the basis of the surveys. In addition to pre-defined answer categories, the surveys also included open questions allowing the respondents to qualify and further explain their answers.

Data were entered into the Research Electronic Data Capture system hosted at CHIP, Rigshospitalet, University of Copenhagen. This is a secure, web-based application designed to support data capture for research studies, providing an intuitive interface for validated data entry, audit trails for tracking data manipulation and export procedures, automated export procedures for seamless data downloads to common statistical packages, and procedures for importing data from external sources. The two surveys were reviewed internally and by ECDC, and were piloted across five Member States. Five people piloted the survey targeting the Primary Target Group (from Estonia, Greece, Norway and UK) and three the survey for the Broader Target Group (from Spain and UK). Pilot feedback was incorporated into the final versions of the two surveys.

# **2.3.1 Selection of respondents**

The Primary Target Group was identified by consulting with the ECDC Coordinating Competent Bodies, National Coordinators and National Focal Points for HIV, who were invited (in August/September 2015) to nominate one or more appropriate respondents for the survey covering the following expertise/roles: policymakers/technical advisors and technical experts at national level with responsibility for and/or expertise in the areas of HIV testing and guidance development/implementation. For those Member States that did not provide a nomination, National Focal Points for HIV were directly addressed. For the Primary Target Group, a purposive sampling approach was used with the aim of having at least one response for each Member State. If more than one response was received from a Member State, and conflicting answers were provided, responses were analysed more closely taking the background of the respondents into consideration; responses from the public health sector/national institute received more weight. In addition, where country level information was required, e.g. content of national HIV guidelines, the denominator employed was the number of Member States providing a response, and single country responses were included in the analysis (Primary Target Group-Member State). Where individual opinion was required, all responses were included in the analysis.

Respondents from the Broader Target Group were selected via opportunistic sampling, with the aim of obtaining different responses and insights to the impact and use of the ECDC 2010 guidance. While representativeness was not required for this group, the goal was to distribute the survey widely, aiming for approximately 150 responses. As a consequence, the final number of people reached by the invitations is unknown.

# 2.4 Focus group discussions

Two focus group discussions of one hour each were conducted during the EACS conference in Barcelona, Spain, in October 2015. Participants were selected on the basis of ability to inform the evaluation by using both purposive sampling and snowball sampling. Participants within the HiE network were invited on the basis of their knowledge of HIV testing in Europe and were asked to invite colleagues to join the focus group discussions. An open invitation was also given during a presentation on HIV testing and information leaflets were available at the registration desk at the IUSTI conference in Sitges, Spain in September 2015. Invitations were distributed widely and the final number of people reached by the invitations is unknown.

A semi-structured interview guide was developed to lead the focus group discussions and ensure that relevant topics were covered (Table 4), and the discussions were moderated. A written summary of the discussions was prepared with emerging key themes. A deductive approach was selected for data analysis and the research questions were the basis for grouping data according to themes, similarities and differences resulting in a descriptive content analysis. Identified themes from the focus group discussions provide anecdotal evidence for the quantitative survey data throughout the report.

Topic	Examples of questions
Level of awareness of the guidance	In your opinion, are HIV policymakers and national programme managers aware of the ECDC 2010 guidance? If so to what degree? What about the broader audience?
Relevance	In your opinion, how good was the ECDC 2010 guidance in addressing the needs of the Member States? In your opinion, what needs to change to make the ECDC 2010 guidance more relevant?
Coherence/complementarity	Are there areas/topics in the ECDC 2010 guidance that you consider to be contradictory to other existing guidelines/policies?
Effectiveness/impact	Are you aware of any examples of who has used the ECDC 2010 guidance and how? Do you have any suggestions as to how the ECDC 2010 guidance could be updated and developed in order to increase its use in the future?
EU added value	Do you consider there is EU added value of having an ECDC HIV testing guidance? If so, in what way?
Usability	What are the important usability factors for you in terms of format, availability etc.?

#### Table 4. Summary of moderated topics during the focus group discussions

# 2.5 Organisation of the expert meeting

An Expert Panel was established by ECDC to provide expert opinion on the interpretation and presentation of the findings from the evaluation, and to contribute to the identification of priorities for actions and next steps for ECDC in guidance on HIV testing in the EU/EEA.

The Expert Panel consisted of 18 members representing different constituencies and stakeholders active in the field of HIV testing in the EU/EEA as summarised in Figure 2. Members of the Expert Panel were selected on the basis of recognised expertise and contributions in the field of HIV testing, public health and policy decision making. Geographical representativeness and gender balance were also taken into account in the selection of the experts.

Targeted presentations and moderated discussions during the meeting were used to obtain in-depth information about the experience and opinions of Member States and other stakeholders on the six dimensions of the evaluation: awareness, relevance, coherence/complementarity, effectiveness/impact, EU added value and usability. The topic areas were defined or developed iteratively by the Study Group and ECDC in a process informed by the findings from the survey results and focus group discussions. Preparation for these discussions and the necessary background and information to stimulate discussion was provided to the Expert Panel members prior to and during the meeting.

# 2.6 Webpage access data and review of literature citation

## 2.6.1 Webpage access data

The ECDC guidance was published on the ECDC website on 1 December 2010. An analysis of the webpage traffic related to the 2010 ECDC HIV testing guidance webpage was performed in January 2016. The analysis covered the period 1 June 2011 to 31 December 2015, with an interruption of a few months in 2013 due to platform migration. Number of page-views, sources of traffic and access country were analysed for the page with the Guidance document and the page with the Guidance in brief.

Number of page views was categorised as unique views, corresponding to user sessions per page and total views, including all page views (e.g. multiple views during the same session, page refresher). It was not possible to obtain the number of downloads of the guidance as a PDF file with the existing analytics tool.

## **2.6.2 Citation review**

Citation screening was conducted to identify relevant citations of the ECDC 2010 guidance. Searches in Scopus and Google Scholar were performed on 8 January 2016 to retrieve articles and documents in all languages citing the guidance in the period December 2010 to December 2015. The search methodology used the title in the 'references' field and parts of the URL in the 'website' tag in the advance search in Scopus. These searches were repeated in Google Scholar as free text.

The list of records with all the relevant details was compiled in an Excel spreadsheet and also as an EndNote library. A citation analysis was performed focusing on the following variables: time of publication, type of publication and authors' affiliation/geographical coverage (Annex 3 – see note on page ii).

The full text of the records was screened to identify the context and purpose of the citation according to the following categorisation:

- background information on the HIV epidemic and existing testing guidance/policies
- HIV testing as a public health priority
- report or reference to guidance recommendations or core principles
- HIV testing guidance comparative analysis.

# 2.7 Additional sources of data

# 2.7.1 Data from other HIV in Europe activities

Within the HiE initiative several ongoing activities are related to HIV testing. Of particular relevance is the HIDES Study and a recent study on the counselling process, the results of which are used to aid interpretation of our findings. Also, as part of the European Commission funded OptTEST project (2014–2017, www.opttest.eu) mapping of HIV testing guidelines was carried out for the Czech Republic, Estonia, France, Greece, Poland, Spain and the UK and these results are also considered.

## 2.7.2 Data from other ECDC activities

ECDC collects yearly national data on HIV tests performed by EU/EEA Member States in the frame of TESSy. The data, published in the annual HIV surveillance report [3], have been taken into account in the interpretation of findings.

Data on HIV prevalence and testing rates among key populations collected in the framework of the last round of the Dublin Declaration monitoring are also incorporated where relevant [4].

# 3. Results

# **3.1 Respondents**

# **3.1.1 Primary Target Group: Member States representatives**

Twenty-eight Primary Target Group respondents from 23 of the 31 EU/EEA Member States responded to the ECDC 2010 guidance evaluation survey, a Member State response rate of 74%. Two responses were submitted from France, Netherlands, Norway, Poland and Spain. Twenty-four of 28 respondents (86%) reported working within the public health sector and two within health research/academia (7%) and NGOs (7%) respectively (Table 5). The reported main area of work was surveillance (13/28 = 46%). Nineteen of 28 respondents (68%) reported having participated in developing national HIV testing guidelines in their country, and further specified that they primarily worked as HIV experts or coordinators of the national working groups.

#### Table 5. Sectors and countries in which respondents work (N=28)

Sector	Countries
Public health sector (N=24)	Belgium, Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France (2),
	Greece, Ireland, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Poland (2),
	Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Spain (2), Sweden, UK
Health research/academia (N=2)	Austria, Italy
NGOs/CSOs (N=2)	Netherlands, Norway

#### Figure 3. Primary Target Group respondents (N=28)



# **3.1.2 Broader Target Group**

Fifty-one Broader Target Group respondents from 18 EU/EEA countries and one multi-national organisation (WHO) responded to the ECDC 2010 guidance evaluation survey (Annex 1 – see note on page ii). Twenty-three of 51 respondents (45%) reported working in an NGO and 18 of 51 (35%) in the public health sector (Table 6). Fifteen of 51 (29%) reported healthcare service provision as their main area of work, ten of 51 (20%) programme/project coordination and eight of 51 community work (16%). Twenty-nine respondents (57%) reported having participated in developing national HIV testing policy/guidelines in their country.

### Table 6. Sectors and countries in which respondents work (N=51)

Sector	Countries
Research/academia (N=4)	Belgium, Italy, Portugal, Spain
NGOs/CSOs (N=23)	Austria, Belgium (2), Czech Republic (2), France, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Portugal (3), Romania (2), Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, UK (3)
Public health sector (N=18)	Belgium, Czech Republic, Denmark, Italy, Poland, Portugal (2), Spain (4), Netherlands, UK (6)
Other (N=3)	Belgium, international organisation (WHO), UK
Sector not specified (N=3)	Norway, Spain, UK

Figure 4. Broader Target Group respondents (N=51)



# **3.2 Current situation of national HIV testing guidelines, programmes and initiatives**

# **3.2.1 Availability and use of national HIV testing guidelines, strategy and policy documents**

Respondents from the Primary Target Group (N=28) were asked to indicate on a rating scale to what degree a presented list of documents was used nationally; rating the use from not at all (corresponding to 1) to very widely used (corresponding to 5). The most utilised national documents were national HIV strategy/policy documents that included recommendations on testing (68%), national HIV testing guidelines documents (57%) and guidelines on HIV testing issued by professional societies (50%) (Table 7). Primary group respondents were also asked to provide a link to or upload the most used documents; of which 21 of 28 (75%) did (Table 8).

Document	Reporting use of document (%)*	Median Score	Countries
A national HIV strategy/policy that includes recommendations on testing	68% (N = 19)	5 [1-5]	Austria, Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France (2), Greece, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Spain
National HIV testing guidelines document	57% (N =16)	3.5 [1-5]	Austria, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France (2), Greece, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Slovakia, Spain
Guidelines on HIV testing issued by professional societies	50% (N = 14)	4 [1-5]	Austria, Belgium, Croatia, Czech Republic, Estonia, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Netherlands (2), Norway, Poland, Portugal
A national HIV testing policy document	36% (N=10)	4 [1-5]	Austria, Denmark, Czech Republic, France, Latvia, Lithuania, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Romania
A national HIV testing strategy document	36% (N=10)	3 [1-5]	Czech Republic, France (2), Latvia, Lithuania, Netherlands (2), Norway, Portugal, Slovakia
A specific policy concerning provider initiated testing and counselling	21% (N = 6)	4 [3-5]	Czech Republic, Lithuania, Netherlands (2), Norway, Portugal
A specific policy concerning client initiated testing and counselling	21% (N = 6)	2.5 [1-4]	Czech Republic, Latvia, Lithuania, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal

### Table 7. Documents reported most used nationally (N=28)

\*Respondents could report multiple answers

#### Table 8. Most-used documents uploaded by Primary Target Group-Member State respondents

Member State*	Most-used document#	Released	Planned update
Austria	AIDS act of 1993 [11]	1993 – amended in 2001	Updated regularly by national AIDS commission
Croatia	<ul> <li>A) National HIV programme 2011–2015 (new version 2016–2020) [12]</li> <li>B) Recommendations for prevention of occupational exposure to healthcare workers infections transmitted in blood [13]</li> </ul>	A) 2010 B) 2004	A) 2016 B) No information
Czech Republic	The National Programme for HIV/AIDS in the Czech Republic 2013–2017 [14]	2012	2016
Denmark	<ul> <li>A) New strategy for HIV testing [15]</li> <li>B) Recommendations on prevention, diagnosis and treatment of STIs [16]</li> </ul>	A) 2009 B) 2015	A) Not planned** B) Not planned
England	<ul> <li>A) HIV testing brief, NICE [17]</li> <li>B) British HIV Association /British Association for Sexual Health/British Infection Association guidelines on testing [18]</li> </ul>	A) 2014 B) 2008	<ul><li>A) Not planned***</li><li>B) No information</li></ul>
Estonia	Estonian National HIV and AIDS Strategy[19]	2005	2015
Finland	<ul> <li>A) Finland HIV-strategy, 2013–2016 [20]</li> <li>B) The principles of HIV testing. The recommendation for basic healthcare work for points, and a low threshold [21]</li> </ul>	A) 2012 B) 2010	A) 2016 B) No information
France	<ul><li>A) Public health guidelines: HIV infection screening in France, laboratory tests and algorithms [22]</li><li>B) Screening for HIV infection in France, Strategies and screening system [23]</li></ul>	A) 2008 B) 2009	A) No information B) 2016
Greece	Guidelines for the diagnosis of HIV infection in clinical and non- clinical settings [24]	2009	2016
Ireland	AIDS strategy 2000, Report of the national AIDS Strategy Committee [25]	2000	No information
Italy	<ul><li>A) Consensus document on policy for HIV testing in Italy [26]</li><li>B) Consensus Conference on HIV testing: Questions and answers [27]</li></ul>	A) 2011, updated 2013 B) 2012	A) No Information B) No information
Latvia	<ul> <li>A) Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection diagnosis, treatment and prevention clinical guidelines [28]</li> <li>B) Procedures for obstetric care [29]</li> </ul>	A) 2014 B) 2003	<ul> <li>A) Updated regularly by national AIDS commission</li> <li>B) No information</li> </ul>
Lithuania	Link to webpage: Communicable Diseases and AIDS [30]	No information	No information
Netherlands	<ul> <li>A) National STI/HIV plan 2012–2016 - Consolidating and strengthening [31]</li> <li>B) LCI guideline for HIV infection [32]</li> <li>C) For GPs: HIV - floor next to the Dutch College of General Practitioners – standard - sexually transmitted diseases[33]</li> </ul>	A) 2011 B) 2014 C) 2013	<ul><li>A) No information</li><li>B) No information</li><li>C) No information</li></ul>
Norway	<ul> <li>D) Online guide in communicable disease control for the municipal health service [34]</li> <li>E) Acceptance and coping - National HIV strategy (2009–2014)[35]</li> <li>F) Revitalisation and concretisation (2013–2015), Additions to the National HIV Strategy 'Acceptance and Coping' [36]</li> </ul>	A) 2011 B) 2008 C) 2012	A) No information B) No information C) No information
Poland	Implementation Schedule of a National Program for Prevention of HIV Infections and Combating AIDS, 2012–2016 [37]	2012	2017
Portugal	<ul> <li>A) Diagnostics and Laboratory Screening for infection with HIV [38]</li> <li>B) Pregnancy and Human Immunodeficiency Virus HIV [39]</li> </ul>	A) 2011, revised 2014 B) 2004	A) No information B) Updating planned
Romania	<ul> <li>A) Law no. 584/2002 on measures to prevent the spread of AIDS in Romania and to protect persons infected with HIV or suffering from AIDS [40]</li> <li>B) Programme: Strengthening the prevention and control of HIV/AIDS, HVB, HVC in Romania 2009–2014 [41]</li> </ul>	A) 2002 B) 2008	A) No information B) No information
Slovakia	National Programme for HIV / AIDS Prevention in the Slovak Republic 2013–2016 [42]	2000	2016

\*Of the 28 respondents 21 from 19 countries uploaded national documents; #As reported by respondents; \*\*Updated in 2015; \*\*\*Will be updated in 2016

## 3.2.2 HIV testing programmes in the EU/EEA

Of the 23 Primary Target Group Member States, seven (30%) (Croatia, France, Greece, Ireland, Netherlands, Portugal and Romania) reported that there is a national HIV testing programme in their country. For the other countries, nine (39%) (Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Latvia, Lithuania, Norway, and UK) reported that their health system conducts HIV testing, and seven (30%) (Belgium, Czech Republic, Finland, Italy, Malta, Norway and Sweden) reported that testing programmes and services are ongoing at subnational level.

The seven Primary Target Group Member States reporting having a national HIV testing programme, were also asked whether there is a national monitoring and evaluation plan of national HIV testing in their country. Four countries reported having such a plan in place (Croatia, France, Greece and Romania), while three did not have a monitoring and evaluation plan (Ireland, Netherlands and Portugal).

The financing of the existing programmes, both nationally and sub-nationally, was reported as being state funded by 17 of 23 (74%) Primary Target Group Member States, funded through health insurance by eight (35%), by NGOs by six (26%), and through international donor programmes by three (13%). While 11 of the 23 (48%) Member States provided only one source of financing, nine (39%) Member States reported mixed financing, primarily including both state-funded and health insurance funded programmes (three Member States did not report on the type of financing) (Figure 5).





## 3.2.3 Elements included in HIV testing practice in Member States

The Primary Target Group Member States reported the following elements as the most frequently included in HIV testing practice:

- post-test access to treatment, care and prevention services (N=17)
- voluntary, confidential testing with informed consent (N=16)
- testing of all pregnant women for HIV (opt-out) (N=16)
- dedicated HIV testing centres (N=15).

Areas less frequently mentioned were

- written informed consent (N=2)
- home testing/self-testing (N=1)
- routine HIV test offer in emergency departments (N=4) (Table 9).

## Table 9. Elements included in HIV testing practice (N=23)\*

Elements	% (N)	Member States
	Goals and	principles
Post-test access to treatment, care and prevention services	78% (17)	Belgium, Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Lithuania, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia
Voluntary, confidential testing with informed consent	70% (16)	Belgium, Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Greece, Italy, Lithuania, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia
Post-test counselling	70% (16)	Belgium, Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Greece, Italy, Lithuania, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia
A defined target audience	65% (15)	Belgium, Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Lithuania, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia
Pre-test counselling or pre-test discussion	57% (13)	Belgium, Croatia, Czech Republic, Estonia, Finland, Greece, Italy, Lithuania, Malta, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Romania
Desirability or requirement to remove legal or financial barriers	43% (10)	Belgium, Czech Republic, Croatia, Denmark, France, Greece, Italy, Norway, Portugal, Slovakia
Raise professional awareness and train the workforce	43% (10)	Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, France, Greece, Italy, Lithuania, Malta, Portugal, Romania
Monitoring and evaluation programme	39% (9)	Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Greece, Netherlands, Portugal, Romania
Partner notification	35% (8)	Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Greece, Lithuania, Malta, Netherlands, Norway
Testing conducted by lay providers	22% (5)	Czech Republic, Denmark, France, Greece, Portugal
Streamlining of counselling process (less demanding)	17% (4)	Croatia, Denmark, Finland, Greece
Written informed consent	9% (2)	Lithuania, Romania
	Sett	ings
Dedicated HIV testing centres (e.g. for people at high risk, PWID services)	65% (15)	Belgium, Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Greece, Italy, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia
Outreach services	43% (10)	Belgium, Croatia, Denmark, Finland, Greece, Lithuania, Netherlands, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia
Routine offering in general practice	35% (8)	Belgium, Estonia, France, Malta, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia
Non-medical, non-traditional alternative settings (saunas, field visits, etc.)	30% (7)	Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal
Routine offering in emergency departments	17% (4)	Belgium, Malta, Norway, Romania
Home testing/self-testing	4% (1)	France
	Sub-g	roups
Testing of all pregnant women for HIV (opt-out)	70% (16)	Austria, Belgium, Czech Republic, Estonia, Finland, France, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Lithuania, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia
Testing of all most-at-risk population groups	57% (13)	Belgium, Croatia, Czech Republic, Estonia, Finland, France, Greece, Italy, Lithuania, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Romania
Testing of sero-discordant couples (routine	52%	Croatia, Czech Republic, Estonia, Finland, France, Greece,
Testing of people with an indicator condition	(12)	Belgium Croatia Estopia Eigland France Creece Italy
e.g. pneumonia, mononucleosis-like illness	(11)	Lithuania, Netherlands, Portugal, Romania
Testing frequency	30% (7)	Estonia, France, Greece, Malta, Norway, Portugal, Romania
Tandem Hep C or B/C and HIV testing	22% (5)	Estonia, Finland, Greece, Malta, Romania

\* Respondents could provide multiple answers

# 3.3 Impact assessment

## 3.3.1 Who was reached and how

All 28 (100%) Primary Target Group respondents were aware of the ECDC 2010 guidance and 50% have used it for their work. Of the 42 (82%) Broader Target Group respondents aware of the guidance, 36% used it for their work (Table 10).

#### Table 10. Awareness and use of ECDC testing guidance\*

Level of awareness	Primary Target Group (N=28)	Broader Target Group (N=51)	Total (N=79)
Knowledge of its existence	100% (N =28)	82% (N=42)	89% (N=70)
Have looked at it	36% (N=10/28)	26% (N=11/42)	27% (N=21/70)
Have discussed it in professional settings/networks	29% (N=8/28)	31% ( N=13/42)	30% (N=21/70)
Have used it for work	50% (N=14/28)	36% (N=15/42)	41% (N=29/70)
Have distributed it in national/professional networks	43% (N=12/28)	55% (N=23/42)	50% (N=35/70)
Translated into local language	0% (0=0/28)	5% (N=2/37)**	3% (N=2/65*)

\*Respondents could provide multiple answers

\*\*Five respondents responded not applicable as English is local language

Nineteen of the 28 (70%) Primary Target Group respondents who were aware of the guidance, reported becoming aware of it via the ECDC website, 16 (59%) from professional networks and meetings/conferences and 15 (56%) from searching online. Twenty-one (75%) reported more than one source of information about the existence of the ECDC 2010 guidance. Seventeen of the 42 (40%) Broader Target Group respondents who were aware of the ECDC 2010 guidance, reported becoming aware of it via the ECDC website, 24 (57%) from professional networks, 22 (52%) from meetings/conferences and 15 (36%) from a national document which referenced the guidance. Thirty-two of the Broader Target Group respondents (76%) reported more than one source of information about the existence of the ECDC 2010 guidance.

Only 13 of the 28 (46%) Primary Target Group and 15 of the 51 (29%) Broader Target Group respondents were familiar with the brief version of the guidance, and of those, 12 (92%) Primary Target Group respondents found it to be useful or very useful, and all (100%) of the Broader Target Group respondents found it to be useful or very useful.

## 3.3.2 Citation and web access review

### 3.3.2.1 Website access of the 2010 ECDC guidance

Guidance documents are the third most popular type of publication accessed on the ECDC website, after surveillance and technical reports. Within guidance documents, HIV/STI is the second most popular topic, after influenza.

During the time period when data collection was possible, i.e. June 2011 to December 2015 with a few months gap in 2013, the guidance had a total of 619 page-views (530 unique views), of which 71% were via Google and 22% via direct access. The main access countries were Greece, Poland, Portugal and the UK. In the same period, the brief version had 233 page-views (180 unique views), via email referral (23%), Google (48%), direct access (25%) or via Eurosurveillance (12%). Main access countries were Serbia, Sweden, South Korea and Turkey.

No data were available for the period of time immediately subsequent to the documents release, nor were data on direct access to and download of pdf files.

#### 3.3.2.2 Citation of the 2010 ECDC guidance

In the period from December 2010 to end December 2015 the guidance was cited 79 times; the full list is provided in Annex 3 (see note on page ii). The majority of citations were from journal articles (65, 82%), however other sources of citations included journal reviews (4, 5%), reports (3, 4%), editorials (3, 4%) and one each in a book and one thesis.

The citation linear trend is upwards until 2014 and then the number of citations is maintained in 2015.

#### Table 11. Number of citations received per year

Year	Number of citations
2010 (December month only)	2
2011	2
2012	14
2013	21
2014	21
2015	19
Total	79

Half of the records (40/79, 51%) report or reference the recommendations or core principles of the guidance and around a third (25/79, 31%) use it as a reference for HIV testing being a public health priority. It is also referenced as background information on the HIV epidemic and existing testing guidance/policies (10/79, 13%), and as part of comparative analyses of HIV testing guidance (4/79, 5%) (Table 5).

#### Table 12. Guidance citation content

Category: type of information	No. of records	Citation example
Background information on HIV epidemic and existing testing guidance/policies	10[43-52]	The large majority of sexually transmitted infection (STI) prevention, diagnosis, and treatment occurs in primary care centres.
HIV testing as a public health priority	25[6,53-76]	Early testing for HIV infection is known to be an economically and medically effective strategy, but is under-used across Europe.
Report or reference to guidance recommendations or core principles	40[77-116]	HIV testing has been a cornerstone of AIDS prevention strategies, as early diagnosis and treatment have both individual and public health benefits. Most-at-risk populations have been specifically targeted, and it has been recommend that MSM should be tested annually, or more often depending on sexual behaviour.
HIV testing guidance comparative analysis	4[117-120]	Advocating for multiple pathways in the provision of HIV testing services is also reflected in the international policy discourse.

# 3.3.3 Relevance of the ECDC HIV testing guidance

Twenty-three of the 28 (82%) Primary Target Group respondents and 31 of 51 (61%) Broader Target Group respondents indicated that the ECDC 2010 guidance is the most relevant guidance among several international guidance/guidelines listed (Figure 6).

#### Figure 6. Most relevant international HIV testing guidelines/guidance



Most primary (18 of 23, 81%) and broader (18 of 31, 81%) target group respondents indicated that the ECDC 2010 guidance was very relevant or relevant when published in 2010, and for their current work (2015) (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Relevance of ECDC 2010 guidance in 2010 and 2015

\* All respondents were asked if relevant in 2015, while only the ones that ticked ECDC as a relevant guidance were asked if relevant in 2010.

Those respondents reporting the ECDC 2010 guidance of any degree of relevance when published in 2010 (21 of the primary and 30 of the Broader Target Group), were asked for which areas of their work the ECDC 2010 guidance was considered most relevant (Table 13).

Table 13. Areas for which the ECDC 2010	guidance was considered to be relevant*
---	---

	Primary Target Group respondents (N=21)	Broader target group respondents (N=30)	Total (N=51)
As a reference policy document	86% (18)	63% (19)	65% (31)
General information about approaches to HIV testing	76% (16)	57% (17)	60% (29)
For national HIV testing policy/ guidelines/strategy development/monitoring/evaluation	76% (16)	37% (11)	49% (22)
For HIV testing programme development/monitoring/evaluation	62% (13)	47% (14)	44% (21)
For comparison between different countries' testing policies	38% (8)	20% (6)	25% (12)
To provide technical feed-back to policymakers/decision-makers	33% (7)	20% (6)	19% (9)
Other	2 (10%)	7% (2)	4% (2)
To support advocacy work on HIV testing/influence decision makers/raise awareness about HIV testing	NA**	53% (16)	NA**
To fundraise /mobilise resources for HIV testing	NA**	10% (3)	NA**

\*Respondents could provide multiple answers

\*\*Response option not available to Primary Target Group respondents

For the Primary Target Group respondents, the 2010 ECDC HIV testing guidance was most useful as a reference policy document (86%), as general information (76%) and for national HIV testing policy/ guidelines/strategy development/monitoring/evaluation (76%). For the Broader Target Group, the 2010 ECDC HIV testing guidance was most relevant as a reference policy document (63%), for general information (57%) and for advocacy purposes (53%), and less so for national HIV testing policy/ guidelines/strategy development/monitoring/evaluation (37%) (Table 13).

Reasons reported by the two respondents from the Primary Target Group who indicated that the ECDC 2010 guidance was not useful included that another testing policy/strategy/programme not quite corresponding to the ECDC 2010 guidance was already in place (N=1), and use of other HIV testing guidance (N=1).

From the two focus group discussions it was clear that the ECDC 2010 guidance was considered by most participants to be relevant when it was published in 2010, and had been used for national guideline development and for influencing policymakers.

However, the focus group participants agreed that the guidance is outdated; not least because of the paradigm shift due to recent evidence on Treatment as Prevention [121] and the benefits of starting ART regardless of disease stage [122], which places even more urgency on HIV testing to deliver benefit. Bluntly put by one participant:

"As it stands the document needs to be withdrawn! ECDC should notify the countries that this is withdrawn until a new accurate guidance is ready."

## 3.3.4 Usability of guidance

In order to see whether the ECDC 2010 guidance was designed to respond to the needs of the primary and Broader Target Group, respondents were asked about the usability of the ECDC 2010 guidance (Figures 8 and 9).

#### Figure 8. Reported usability of the ECDC 2010 guidance by the Primary Target Group (N=28)



Figure 9. Reported usability of the ECDC 2010 guidance by the Broader Target Group (N=51)



As shown in Figures 8 and 9, the majority agreed that the ECDC 2010 guidance was good in terms of being easily accessible, having a clear structure and format, being user-friendly and clearly written. A higher percentage in the Broader Target Group (>30%) found it problematic that the guidance was not available in their own language than in the Primary Target Group (11%). More Primary Target Group respondents (80%) than those in the Broader Target Group (60%) found the report easily accessible.

On the usability of the guidance, the two focus group discussions acknowledged the trade-off between comprehensiveness and user-friendliness. Some argued in favour of a shorter document and others found that it is too general and therefore difficult to implement. One participant said:

"The guidance document was useful, but provides very large lines (general lines). It is not specific enough, so therefore difficult to include (in national guidelines)."

# **3.3.5 Alignment between the ECDC 2010 guidance and national testing programmes**

In order to determine the extent to which the ECDC 2010 guidance is aligned with and complementary to existing national documents and interventions, Member States were asked to indicate to what extent their national HIV testing policy/guidelines/programmes align with the ECDC 2010 guidance.

Thirteen of the 23 (57%) Member States reported the ECDC 2010 guidance as being very closely or somewhat aligned, and one (4%) as slightly aligned (Table 14).

# Table 14. Extent to which the ECDC guidance is aligned with recommendations and/or technical content of the most widely used national policy/guidelines in their country (N=23)

Level of alignment	N (%)	MS
Closely aligned/somewhat closely	13 (57%)	Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Greece,
aligned		Lithuania, Malta, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Spain, Sweden, UK
Slightly aligned	1 (4%)	Italy
Not at all aligned	2 (9%)	Ireland, the Netherlands
Do not know	7 (30%)	Austria, Belgium, France, Latvia, Norway, Poland, Spain

# **3.3.6 How was the ECDC 2010 guidance used in developing guidelines?**

To evaluate the impact of the ECDC 2010 guidance on developing, monitoring and evaluating HIV testing strategies and/or programmes at national level, primary and Broader Target Group respondents were asked if they actively used the ECDC 2010 guidance and for what purpose.

Ten of 23 (43%) Primary Target Group Member States reported having used the ECDC 2010 guidance in the development, monitoring and/or evaluation of their national HIV testing policy/guidelines/programme/strategy. Seven Primary Target Group Member States reported that the ECDC 2010 guidance was not used. Of these, five reported this was because a national testing policy/guideline or strategy/programme was already in place. One reported that it was because the release of the ECDC 2010 guidance was untimely, and one that other HIV testing guidelines were used [123].

From the Broader Target Group, 29 of 51 (56%) respondents reported having used the ECDC 2010 guidance for developing information materials or advocacy activities. Of the 11 Broader Target Group respondents who reported not using the ECDC 2010 guidance, four reported that this was because a national testing policy/guideline, or strategy/programme was already in place, and five because other testing guidelines were used. Four of five clarified which other guidelines were used [17,18,124].

The Primary Target Group Member States and Broader Target Group respondents who reported using the ECDC 2010 guidance (10 and 29, respectively) were asked how it was used, and the answers differed between the two groups (Table 15).

### Table 15. Reported use of the ECDC 2010 guidance\*

Use of the ECDC guidance by primary	Primary Target	Broader Target Group (N=29)
and Broader Target Group	Group Member	
To revise an existing HIV testing policy/guidelines/programme (Primary Target Group Member States), HIV testing principles/guidance documents (Broader Target Group)	6 (60%) Croatia, Greece, Malta, the Netherlands, Portugal, Romania	<b>19 (66%)</b> Public health sector (5): Denmark, Italy, Spain (2), UK Private health sector (1): Belgium Research/Academia (1): Spain NGOs/CSOs (10): Belgium (2), Czech Republic (2), Ireland, Italy, Portugal (3), Romania Other (2): Belgium, multinational organisation
To support/inform the monitoring/evaluation of HIV testing	<b>5 (50%)</b> Croatia, Greece, the Netherlands, Portugal, UK	<b>9 (31%)</b> Public health sector (4): Belgium, Spain (3) Private health sector (0): Research/Academia (1): Italy, NGOs/CSOs (4): Belgium, Greece, Italy, Portugal
To develop a new HIV testing policy/guidelines/programme (Primary Target Group Member States) Information materials on testing/ NGO testing guidance principles (Broader Target Group)	<b>3 (30%)</b> Belgium, Croatia, Estonia	<b>12 (41%)</b> Public health sector (2): Spain, UK Research/Academia (2): Belgium, Spain NGOs/CSOs (6): Ireland, Italy, Poland, Portugal (2), Romania Other (2): Belgium, Spain
To advocate for HIV testing raise awareness on HIV testing (Broader Target Group)	<b>3 (27%)</b> Greece, Lithuania, Norway	<b>18 (62%)</b> Public health sector (4): Belgium, Spain (2), UK Research/Academia (2): Belgium, Spain NGOs/CSOs (11): Austria, Belgium (2), Czech Republic, Greece, Ireland, Portugal (2), Romania (2), Spain Other (1): Belgium
To fundraise/mobilise resources for HIV testing programmes	<b>2 (18%)</b> Lithuania, Spain	<b>13 (45%)</b> Public health sector (3): Spain (2), UK Research/Academia (2): Belgium, Spain NGOs/CSOs (7): Belgium (2), Czech Republic, Ireland, Portugal (2), Spain Other (1): Belgium
Other	<b>2 (18%)</b> Belgium, Spain	1 (3%) Research/Academia (1): Portugal
To influence decision makers (Broader Target Group)	NA ()	<b>4 (14%)</b> Public health sector (1): Spain Research/Academia (1): Portugal NGOs/CSOs (3): Portugal (2), Ireland

\*Respondents could provide multiple answers

The Primary Target Group Member States (10 of 23) and Broader Target Group respondents (29 of 51) who reported having used the ECDC 2010 guidance, further specified which parts of the guidance was utilised (Table 16).

#### Table 16. Parts of the ECDC 2010 guidance utilised\*

Part of the guidance most used	Primary Target Group Member States (N=10)	Broader Target Group (N=29)	Total (N=39)
Core principles for national HIV testing strategies and programmes	100% (10)	69%(20)	77% (30)
Whom, where and when to test	80% (8)	90% (26)	87% (34)
How to test	50% (5)	45% (13)	46% (18)
Ensuring access to HIV treatment, care and prevention	40% (4)	66% (19)	59%(23)
Monitoring and evaluation	40% (4)	24% (7)	28% (11)

\*Respondents could provide multiple answers

The Primary Target Group Member States (10 of 23) and Broader Target Group respondents (29 of 51) who reported having used the ECDC 2010 guidance reported the following core principles as the most frequently utilised (Figure 10).



#### Figure 10. Utilisation of core principles in the ECDC 2010 guidance\*

\*Respondents could provide multiple answers

## 3.3.7 Changes in national HIV testing policies/practices

Thirteen of the 28 Primary Target Group respondents reported having used the guidance for the development, monitoring and/or evaluation of their national HIV testing policy/guidelines/programme/strategy (46%). Twelve of the 13 (92%) Primary Target Group respondents who reported having used the ECDC 2010 guidance reported it was of some importance (either very important/important or somewhat important) for changes in national HIV testing policies/guidelines or strategies/programmes in their country. None of the Primary Target Group respondents specified within which areas these changes were important.

Twenty of the 28 (71%) Primary Target Group respondents and 38 of the 51 (75%) Broader Target Group respondents reported having seen changes in HIV testing practices in their country since 2010. Eighty percent of primary (N=16/20) and 42% of Broader Target Group respondents (N=16/38) reported that in their opinion these changes have led to an improvement in HIV testing in their country. Of these, seven (35%) primary and nine (24%) Broader Target Group respondents indicated that in their opinion the ECDC 2010 guidance had an impact on the changes. The 20 primary and 38 Broader Target Group respondents reported the introduction of rapid HIV testing and expanded testing in non-conventional settings (Table 17) among the observed changes in HIV testing practices in their country.

#### Table 17. Description of observed changes in HIV testing practices since 2010

	Primary Target Group (N = 20*)	Broader Target Group ( N =38*)	Total (N=58)	Examples of reported changes
Rapid HIV tests	7	14	21	HIV testing using rapid tests increased in last years
More focus on community based and outreach testing in alternative settings	6	15	21	We offer outreach testing to try to reach MSM and migrants better
Increased targeted testing of high risk groups	5	5	10	New identifiable target groups (i.e. Sex workers, PWID Migrants etc.)
Availability of home or self-testing	2	9	11	Introduction of home based testing (via online services)
Increased testing in general health care setting/ intensification of HIV indicator based HIV testing	2	7	9	Intensification of HIV indicator condition guided HIV testing and more awareness among general practitioners
Testing provided by lay providers	2	4	6	Focus on MSM and rapid testing performed by lay personnel
Testing algorithm updates	1	2	3	Widespread introduction of point of care testing and 4th generation tests
New technologies for detection of acute infection	-	1	1	There were new technologies applied, people were trained according to new standards
Integration of high impact prevention PEP, PrEP, early treatment	-	1	1	Testing as key factor for integration of three high impact prevention: PEP, Early Treatment and PrEP
Tandem testing (e.g. STIs-HIV, HIV-HBV, HIV-HCV)	-	1	1	Syphilis testing is now more often involved in HIV voluntary counselling and testing (MSM and negative partners of PLWHA). Rapid syphilis tests allow keeping the anonymity of the clients.

\*Respondents could provide multiple answers

### 3.3.7.1 Case study: Indicator condition guided HIV testing

The ECDC 2010 guidance highlights indicator condition (IC)-guided HIV testing as an important intervention, and a number of countries report that this is included in their national programmes; namely Belgium, Croatia, Estonia, Finland, France, Greece, Italy, Lithuania, Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Romania and Spain. In the review of documents, nine recommend IC-guided HIV testing (Croatia, Denmark, Greece, Italy, Latvia, Netherlands and the UK (five with reference to HiE guidance)<sup>5</sup>. Other studies however demonstrate poor implementation of this approach as HIV test offer rates in people presenting with ICs remain low across Europe, as shown in the HIDES study on auditing HIV testing [9]. The offer rate for HIV testing among patients presenting with an IC was 86% overall (IQR 60–100%), with the lowest offer rate in Northern Europe (median 69%, IQR 33–70) and the highest in Eastern Europe (median 100%, IQR 97–100%).

### 3.3.8 ECDC 2010 guidance impact evaluation – summary

#### 3.3.8.1 Awareness

All 28 Primary Target Group respondents (100%) and 42 of 51 (82%) Broader Target Group respondents were aware of the guidance.

#### 3.3.8.2 Relevance

Twenty-three of the 28 (82%) Primary Target Group respondents and 31 of 51 (61%) of the Broader Target Group respondents indicated the ECDC 2010 guidance is the most relevant guidance among several international guidance/guidelines listed.

#### 3.3.8.3 Usability

The majority agreed the ECDC 2010 guidance was easily accessible, user-friendly and clearly written, and had a clear structure and format. A higher percentage in the Broader Target Group (>30%) than in the Primary Target Group (11%).found it problematic that the guidance was not available in their own language

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Available at: <u>http://newsite.hiveurope.eu/Ongoing-Projects/Guidance-HIV-Indicator-Conditions</u>

### 3.3.8.4 Impact

Thirteen of 28 (46%) of the Primary Target Group respondents reported having used the ECDC 2010 guidance for the development, monitoring and/or evaluation of their national HIV testing policy/guidelines/programme/strategy. Twenty-nine of 51 (56%) of the Broader Target Group respondents reported having used the ECDC 2010 guidance for developing information materials or advocacy activities.

The majority of both primary and Broader Target Group respondents have observed important changes and some considered the ECDC guidance as having contributed to these.

#### 3.3.8.5 Alignment

The majority of the Primary Target Group respondents (64%) reported that the ECDC 2010 guidance was closely or somewhat closely aligned with the recommendations and/or technical content of the most widely used national policy/guidelines in their country.

# 3.4 Gaps analysis – needs and priority areas

## **3.4.1 EU added value**

Twenty-three of 28 (82%) Primary Target Group respondents and 46 of 51 (90%) Broader Target Group respondents considered it very important/important to have an EU-level HIV testing guidance. One respondent from each target group considered it not important (Table 18).

Importance of having an EU level HIV testing guidance	Primary Target Group (N=28)	Broader Target Group (N=51)	Total (N=79)
Very important	<b>32% (9)</b> Belgium, Croatia, Finland, Greece, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Spain, Sweden	<b>55% (28)</b> Public health sector (8): Belgium, Czech Republic, Poland, Portugal (2), Spain (2), UK Research/Academia (3): Belgium, Portugal, Spain NGOs/CSOs (14): Austria, Czech Republic, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Poland, Portugal (3), Slovenia, Spain, UK (3) No response (2): Norway, Spain Other (1): Belgium	47% (37)
Important	<b>50% (14)</b> Czech Republic, Estonia, France (2), Ireland, Malta, Netherlands (2), Norway, Poland (2), Portugal, Romania, Spain	<b>35% (18)</b> Public health sector (9): Denmark, Italy, Spain (2), Netherlands, UK (4) Research/Academia (1): Italy NGOs/CSOs (6): Belgium (2), Czech Republic, Romania (2), Slovakia No response (1): UK Other (1): multinational organisation (WHO)	41% (32)
Somewhat important	<b>7% (2)</b> Austria, Slovakia	<b>8% (4)</b> NGOs/CSOs (3): France, Latvia, Lithuania Other (1): UK	8% (6)
Not important	<b>4% (1)</b> Norway	<b>2% (1)</b> Public health sector (1): UK	3% (2)
No response	<b>4% (1)</b> UK	0% (0)	1% (1)
Other	<b>4% (1)</b> Denmark	0% (0)	1% (1)

#### Table 18. Importance of having an EU-level HIV testing guidance

The Primary (25 of 28) and Broader (50 of 51) Target Group respondents who reported that it was important to have an EU-level guidance, were asked to describe in which ways the EU-level guidance provides added value. The majority (65%) responded that it influences the development of national policies in EU/EEA countries (Table 19).

#### Table 19. Added value afforded by the ECDC 2010 guidance

	Primary Target Group (N=25)	Broader Target Group (N=50)	Total (N=75)
It is well accepted as a reference policy document	18 (72%)	26 (52%)	44 (59%)
Fosters change in individual countries in EU/EEA by providing an EU/EEA standard	15 (60%)	26 (52%)	41 (55%)
Saves time/resources by providing up to date review of evidence relevant to the EU/EEA country	15 (60%)	30 (60%)	45 (60%)
Influences the development of national policies in the EU/EEA countries	14 (56%)	35 (70%)	49 (65%)
Provides a benchmark	13 (52%)	26 (52%)	39 (52%)
Provides leverage for advocacy purposes	12 (48%)	25 (50%)	37 (49%)
Other	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	1 (1.3%)

Twenty-four of 28 (86%) Primary and 36 of 51 (71%) Broader Target Group respondents reported that there is an added value of having an up-to-date HIV testing guidance at EU level.

The following are examples of how the ECDC 2010 guidance provides added value at an EU level, provided by the survey respondents and focus groups:

"For countries like [country], where access to free of charge, anonymous testing for vulnerable groups is non-existent, it is important to have updated information and guidance in order to put pressure on public institutions and to get results and changes in this field."

"Yes really important in that people will know what procedures to follow in the EU."

"Procedures and standards based specifically on the EU epidemiology."

"European guidelines help to change national guidelines; it needs to be innovative though and updated continuously. It is good if it is innovative, because that helps you to change national guidelines."

"We need European guidelines in order to understand what people are doing in other European countries. It is a way to be on the same track."

## 3.4.2 Needs and update - input for an updated ECDC guidance

This section gathers data from the surveys, including specification provided in free text boxes, as well as input from the focus group discussions and the Expert Panel meeting. Many contributions were provided to the question of a revised ECDC guidance. The section is divided into the following themes:

- content of a new guidance document
- format of the guidance
- audience
- dissemination
- leadership role by ECDC.

#### 3.4.2.1 Content

As part of the assessment of the needs for an EU-level HIV testing guidance from ECDC, the Primary and Broader Target Group respondents were asked to indicate areas they thought should be removed or deprioritised, and areas that should be added or prioritised in a potential update of the guidance. While very few respondents pointed to areas that should be removed, there were several areas or topics that both Primary and Broader Target Group respondents thought should be added or prioritised. For the majority, these included new testing technologies, a continuum of care perspective and monitoring and evaluation standards/tools (Figure 11).

#### Figure 11. Areas/topics to be added/prioritised\*



\*Respondents could provide multiple answers

Both Primary and Broader Target Group respondents provided qualitative inputs, recommendations and suggestions for a possible future updated version of the ECDC 2010 guidance in the survey's free text sections. The focus group discussions also produced a range of suggestions for a revised ECDC HIV testing guidance. The inputs were collated and presented during the Expert Panel meeting. From the subsequent discussion, a set of key recommendations was distilled (Table 20).

#### Table 20. Topics to include in an updated ECDC testing guidance

Testing approaches
New technologies and innovative testing approaches (e.g. IC guided testing, community testing, self-testing/sampling)
Diversification and complementarity of testing approaches
Economic appraisal elements
Testing approaches for high risk groups and other vulnerable groups (e.g. minorities, higher risk MSM, PrEP users)
Diagnostic window and testing strategies
Frequency of testing
Comprehensive testing approaches (e.g. STI, HBV, HCV)
Partner notification
Regulatory issues
Testing among youth (under 18 years)
Confidentiality and anonymity of testing
De-medicalisation of testing and task-shifting
Monitoring and evaluation
Monitoring and evaluation of HIV testing interventions

It was stressed that regular updates, e.g. annually, was important for the document to remain relevant and to include and review the newest evidence in the field.

#### 3.4.2.2 Format

To increase the relevance and use of the ECDC 2010 guidance for their work, a majority of respondents from the Primary Target Group stated that the guidance should provide a framework for monitoring and evaluation of testing programmes, whereas the majority of respondents from the Broader Target Group wanted the guidance to provide best-practice examples from the EU/EEA.

Discussions at the expert meeting supported these results as there was consensus on the need for an updated guidance which should be complemented by practice and implementation-oriented products. In particular on monitoring and evaluation to support monitoring at national and/or regional level, programmatic planning and decision-making, service provider quality management or local implementation.

In addition, an interactive format was preferred over a static printed one to improve user friendliness.

When combining the input from the different data sources in order to design the format of a new ECDC guidance, a comprehensive package including a guidance and a set of companion products was envisioned.

#### Table 21. Updated ECDC testing guidance: proposed set of complementary products

Complementary products to the guidance document

Tool on how to develop national testing guidelines, including a template.

Monitoring and evaluation tool with specific indicators to evaluate the effectiveness of testing programmes and support the collection of testing performance data.

Country case studies and service models repository (as an online tool).

Implementation tool (e.g. set of context-specific testing approaches, economic appraisal).

#### 3.4.2.3 Audience

An updated ECDC HIV testing guidance shall aim at providing recommendations at strategic level. Findings from the surveys and input from the focus groups and expert panel participants contributed to the definition of primary target audience as all the professionals engaged in developing HIV testing guidelines at national level. Depending on national set-up, this may be a diverse group constituted by:

- policy advisers and programme managers
- service providers, including health care workers, clinicians, civil society organisation members etc.
- advocacy activists.

A secondary and much broader target audience was identified as constituted by technical experts with an interest in HIV testing, including policymaker/advisor, program managers, service providers, clinicians, clinical societies, civil society organisations, etc.

Although not within the mandate of ECDC to address countries outside the EU, the importance and possible use of the guidance in EU neighbouring countries was discussed and recognised. Also, the need to involve other medical specialties/clinical societies and communicate benefits of HIV testing to a wider group of health professionals was highlighted.

### **3.4.3 Dissemination**

To improve the dissemination of the ECDC 2010 guidance, both Primary and Broader Target Group respondents suggested that it should provide service models and case study examples, be more practically oriented by providing guidance and tools, as discussed under previous section, and that it should be translated into other EU/EEA languages (Table 22).

#### Table 22. How to improve dissemination of the ECDC 2010 guidance

	Primary Target Group (N=28)*	Broader Target Group (N=51)*	Total (N=79)
Be practical oriented e.g. with a toolkit with implementation- oriented tools	57%(16)	55% (28)	56%(44)
Provide service models and case study examples from EU/EEA countries	54%(15)	61% (31)	58%(46)
Produce a collection of documents tailored to specific users (e.g. policymakers, advocacy activists)	50%(14)	45% (23)	47%(37)
Translation into other EU/EEA languages	36%(10)	65% (33)	54%(43)
Organise workshops for Member States and other stakeholders to promote its implementation	36%(10)	43% (22)	41%(32)
Complement the guidance with a peer-reviewed publication	32% (9)	15% (15)	34%(24)
Upload the guidance on additional websites other than ECDC	29% (8)	51% (26)	43%(34)
Supplement the guidance with additional resources like information leaflets and posters for download	21%(6)	31% (16)	28%(22)
Other	4% (1)	2% (1)	3%(2)

\*Respondents could provide multiple answers

When merging inputs from the survey with inputs from the focus groups and expert panel, the proposed dissemination plan was structured into two main phases: dissemination at the time of the launch, and, subsequent ongoing stakeholder engagement following the release.

#### Table 23. Proposed strategies for dissemination and engagement of target audience

Proposed strategies to increase dissemination at the launch of a new guidance
The use of 'teasers' to be sent out ahead of the release via social media
Identification of `country ambassador'
Time the launch alongside established events such as the 'European HIV testing week'
Devise a set of key messages tailored to different audience groups.
Proposed strategies to ensure continuous engagement of the target audience
Email at launch, with follow-up emails at six months and annually thereafter
Organise face-to-face workshop with country representatives to support Member States in developing national guidelines and/or facilitate
implementation at national level
Engage national clinical specialties societies (e.g. national society of henatology) (see also section 3.4.2.

Engage national clinical specialties societies (e.g. national society of nepatology) (see also section 3.

Ensure continuous updates of the guidance, e.g. on yearly basis (see also section 3.4.2)

Service model/case study spotlight – identify and disseminate service model/case study examples on a regular basis (e.g. 6 monthly) to highlight specific guidance content

Foster exchanges between EU countries through newsletters and/ or meetings to discuss new guidelines.

## **3.4.4 ECDC leadership**

In relation to the role of ECDC, both primary and Broader Target Group respondents had several recommendations and suggestions, with many of these being recurrent themes (Table 24).

It was also mentioned by some respondents that ECDC has a role to play in advocacy, such as promoting changes in the legal barrier framework (e.g. who can perform testing). Innovation was a key theme, as reported in the words of focus group and Expert Panel participants:

"Be more bold and on the forefront with new knowledge and evidence."

"Include a discussion about new methods and possibilities even before they are thoroughly evidence based."

"Secure regularly updates of the document – yearly updates of the guidance to cover emerging evidence and new testing approaches."

#### Table 24. The role of ECDC and type of guidance needed

Leadership on data, standards, compliance, implementation, rights

Play a leadership role in its areas of competency by setting best practice and identify core recommendations

More urgent language

Be more specific on achieving concrete goals in the EU

Define criteria to evaluate the effectiveness of HIV testing policies and monitor each country's level of complementation of National and ECDC Guidelines or ask the countries for national evaluation reports

Alignment and collaboration with other European agencies, WHO Europe and IUSTI

# 4. Discussion

The aim of this evaluation was to describe the use and impact of the 2010 ECDC HIV testing guidance, in view of formulating recommendations for future ECDC actions in the field.

Despite the limitations, the evaluation exercise succeeded in collecting reliable information on five of the six identified dimensions, namely awareness, relevance, effectiveness, usability and EU-added value. The findings showed that both primary and broader audiences were aware of the ECDC 2010 guidance and that many had used it in their work and/or having distributed the guidance in their networks. The ECDC 2010 guidance was broadly considered relevant and having good usability. Furthermore, the ECDC 2010 guidance was broadly recognised as having a role in fostering changes at national level and in being of value as a reference policy document. In addition, and specifically for smaller and low resourced EU/EEA Member States, where capacity and resources to develop a national guidance may be limited, an EU level document may be of greater value.

The evaluation set out to evaluate the overall impact, if any, and use of the ECDC 2010 guidance. As the evaluation was mostly based on self-reported data, objectively measuring the impact of the ECDC 2010 guidance was unfortunately beyond reach. The lack of standardised data on HIV testing coverage and uptake across the EU/EEA makes it difficult to accurately measure changes in testing across the region, and any possible impact ECDC guidance may have had. If any changes are observed in testing levels, the underlying reasons are very likely to be multifactorial and it would be unrealistic to solely attribute these directly to the guidance. Moreover, a lag time will exist between the development of guidance and the implementation of programmes resulting from guidance-driven policy changes and this needs to be considered in any evaluation.

The ECDC 2010 guidance has still proven to be effective in reaching the set target and in engaging a broader group of relevant stakeholders in the EU/EEA and beyond. Along this line, the findings indicate a strong need for an update of the previous guidance and for ECDC to continue paying a pivotal role in promoting HIV testing coverage and uptake in the EU/EEA.

A compelling outcome of the evaluation was the identified need for a greater focus on monitoring and evaluation of HIV testing to provide strategic information towards the monitoring of broader regional and global goals, such as UNAIDS 90-90-90. Also, the target audience of ECDC outputs and activities should not be confined to Member State actors only, but include a broader group of stakeholders who are engaged in guidance development and implementation within and possibly beyond the EU/EEA region.

The employed evaluation methodology included several sources of data collection and their triangulation. This study design was selected with the aim of minimising information gaps and selection and response bias, and improving validity. Nevertheless, there are some important limitations related to the validity of data sources, data collection methods, and the representativeness of the sampling approaches which may influence the evaluation results.

In the planning of the methodology the respondents were divided into two groups, the Primary and Broader Target Group; each with their own survey to complete based on their professional profile and role in HIV testing in their country. However, while this division made sense in theory, in practice, respondents overlapped more than anticipated. For example, some individuals working for NGOs, who are part of the Broader Target Group, had played an important role in developing national guidelines and therefore received the survey from the Primary Target Group contact person in their country.

Different sampling methods were used between the two respondent groups for the survey – each with a potential selection bias. For the Primary Target Group, ECDC asked the ECDC Coordinating Competent Bodies, National Coordinators and National Focal Points for HIV, to identify one or more appropriate respondents for the survey. However, if no response was received, the National Focal Points for HIV were contacted directly, resulting in a mixed group of diverse professionals in different countries. Since these professionals have a working relationship with ECDC, there is the potential that they have a greater awareness, use and relevance than is actually the case.

The Broader Target Group was selected via convenience sampling through mailing list contacts, with no monitoring of the end recipients nor structured follow up to ensure representativeness. The number of responses from the Broader Target Group was lower than anticipated. Possibly, people who were already familiar with the ECDC 2010 guidance were more likely to respond to the survey and/or to participate in focus groups. This may have resulted in finding a higher awareness of the guidance in this evaluation than is the case. On the other hand, 20% of BTG respondents indicate that they had no awareness of the ECDC 2010 guidance, which may raise doubts about the relevance of their survey answers.

For both respondent groups, language barriers may have hindered response among non-English native speakers as the survey and focus groups were developed in English only.

While the majority of the survey respondents reported good usability of the ECDC 2010 guidance, focus group discussion participants were particularly concerned about the need for updated information and guidance, and the conversations tended to focus more on current needs and content updates rather than the 2010 ECDC guidance, which they considered to be outdated. The fact that not all had used the guidance or found it relevant, may also reflect a change in position since the release of the guidance in 2010.

The questions and response categories in the surveys were largely pre-defined and there may have been topics or issues that the Study Group has failed to appropriately capture. Despite the round of piloting, some inconsistencies in the survey findings have raised concerns regarding the validity of some questions. Inconsistent feedback may have been caused by lack of attention and/or focus when filling in the survey, misinterpretation of the question and/or of answer options, and overlapping options in multiple answer questions. In addition, where country level information was required and more than one response was received, conflicting answers were sometimes observed. This may reflect poor wording of the question or poor selection of response categories. Finally, despite inclusion of a terminology glossary, some of the definitions used in the surveys, e.g. policy, strategy, programme may have been open to different interpretation by respondents.

The citation review was only performed in Scopus and Google Scholar. References of the ECDC 2010 guidance in national policy documents are not reflected in this citation review, and thereby the use, for what the ECDC 2010 guidance was intended, is likely to be higher than that reflected in a citation review performed in this restricted arena. The website access analysis was constrained by limited data availability due to the platform migration of the ECDC website, the following change of landing page for the ECDC 2010 guidance, and lack of data in the period immediately following guidance launch. These limitations, coupled with the inability to track PDF downloads, are likely to have resulted in an underestimation of the true number of page views.

There is scope for further improvement of the methodology when undertaking any similar exercise in the future. In particular the dimension of 'coherence/complementarity' may require the development of a more objective scoring system, while the division of the target audience into two groups may not be needed. Finally the inclusion in the Broader Target Group of non-EU/EEA actors would be desirable, and of particular relevance for EU/EEA neighbouring countries.

# Survey findings in the context of other HIV testing data: assessing external validity

Findings of the ECDC 2010 guidance evaluation exercise have also been compared with available results from other current projects.

In particular, commissioned by HIV in Europe, the Centre for Social Research in Health (University of New South Wales, Australia) has undertaken a review of testing and counselling guidelines relevant to the WHO European Region, and a survey of perceptions of current HIV testing and counselling practice in the same region. In alignment with the findings from the ECDC 2010 guidance evaluation exercise, recommendations emerging from this consultation focused on the need for tailored, specific novel guidance for home-based sampling/self-testing and new technologies for delivering results, taking into account the different settings and contexts across Europe.

As highlighted in section 3.3.7.1, IC-guided HIV testing, is poorly implemented across Europe although included in many national guidelines. The EU-funded project OptTEST reviewed national HIV testing guidelines and audited implementation of IC-guided HIV testing in seven pilot countries. The results demonstrate low levels of HIV testing in patients presenting with ICs as well as sub-optimal inclusion of IC-guided testing recommendations both in national HIV testing guidelines and the relevant specialty guidelines. As identified during the ECDC evaluation exercise, this is an area that may deserve further attention.

According to the latest ECDC surveillance report, significant HIV transmission continues in Europe and nearly half (47%) of those tested were diagnosed late. While the results from the evaluation indicate that the ECDC 2010 guidance reached its target audience (and beyond) and has been used to revise and/or develop national HIV testing policies, this does not appear to have translated into improving HIV testing coverage and reducing the number of late presenters in the EU/EEA. This may be due to policies not being effectively implemented and lack of effective monitoring and evaluation of policies (as highlighted in this evaluation), coupled with inconsistent HIV testing data reporting across the region.

# **5.** Conclusion and recommendations

The aim of this evaluation was to understand the use and impact, if any, of the 2010 ECDC guidance in the EU/EEA and to make any recommendations for future steps to be taken by ECDC in this area, potentially including an updated guidance.

The results of this evaluation showed that the ECDC 2010 guidance has been referenced and widely used to develop policies, guidelines and/or programmes/strategies in the EU/EEA. The findings suggest that it has contributed to changes in HIV testing strategies across EU/EEA countries. In addition, the ECDC 2010 guidance has reached a wider audience than intended and has proven to be useful to a broader range of stakeholders, as an authoritative reference document as well as for advocacy purposes.

According to the evaluation findings, the ECDC 2010 guidance was considered relevant and of added value by a wide range of stakeholders as it provides a unique EU-level perspective. Update of the guidance and development of complementary products was identified as an urgent need and recommended for future ECDC action.

A set of key recommendations was distilled with the support of the Expert Panel and based on the findings of the evaluation:

- A collaborative approach and engagement with different constituencies and organisations (e.g. WHO, CSOs, clinical specialties professional societies) is recommended to be an essential component of future ECDC activities on HIV testing, with the potential expansion to include clinical professional societies.
- A comprehensive package of products to foster HIV testing coverage and uptake is needed. It is recommended ECDC embarks on an update of the guidance and consider complementing it with specific companion products to promote monitoring and evaluation as well as the development and implementation of national guidelines/guidance documents.
- The guidance document should be regularly updated, and the updates promoted.
- Collection and dissemination of country level case studies and service models, economic appraisal and assistance with implementation are considered key components of future ECDC outputs, e.g. with benchmarking data on testing uptake for comparison among EU countries.
- The target audience of ECDC outputs and activities should not be confined to Member State actors only but include a broader group of stakeholders who are engaged in guidance development and implementation within (and beyond) the EU/EEA region and across a range of clinical specialties.
- Appropriate and continuous dissemination of the guidance is needed. ECDC should devise an effective and multi-layered communication plan to maintain interest and momentum.

# References

- 1. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. HIV testing: increasing uptake and effectiveness in the European Union. ECDC Stockholm 2010.
- 2. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. HIV testing: increasing uptake and effectiveness in the European Union. Evidence synthesis for Guidance on HIV testing. ECDC, 2010.
- 3. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. HIV/AIDS surveillance in Europe 2014. Stockholm, Sweden 2015: ECDC.
- 4. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Evidence brief: HIV testing in Europe. Monitoring implementation of the Dublin Decleration on partnership to fight HIV/AIDS in Europe and Central Asia 2014 progress report. Stockholm, 2015: ECDC.
- 5. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control/WHO Regional Office for Europe. HIV/AIDS surveillance in Europe 2013. Stockholm 2014.
- Mocroft A, Lundgren J, Sabin A, Monforte A, Brockmeyer M, Casabona J et al. Risk Factors and Outcomes for Late Presentation for HIV-Positive Persons in Europe: results from the Collaboration of Observational HIV Epidemiological Research Europe Study (COHERE). PLOS Medicine. 2013.
- The late presenters working group in COHERE in EuroCoord. Late presentation for HIV Care Across Europe: Update from the collaboration of Observational HIV Epidemiological Research Europe (COHERE) Study, 2010 to 2013. Eurosurveillance. 2015.
- 8. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Novel approaches to testing for sexually transmitted infections, including HIV and hepatitis B and C in Europe. Stockholm, 2012: ECDC.
- 9. Raben D, Mocroft A, Rayment M, Mitsura VM, Hadziosmanovic V, Sthoeger ZM, et al. Auditing HIV Testing Rates across Europe: Results from the HIDES 2 Study. PloS One. 2015.
- 10. Sullivan AK, Raben D, Reekie J, Rayment M, Mocroft A, Esser S, et al. Feasibility and Effectiveness of Indicator Condition-Guided Testing for HIV: Results from HIDES I (HIV Indicator Diseases across Europe Study). PLoS ONE. 2013;8(1).
- 11. Austria. AIDS-Gesetz 1993 [AIDS act of 1993]. https://www.ris.bka.gv.at/Dokumente/BgbIPdf/1993 728 0/1993 728 0.pdf Austria; 1993.
- 12. Croatia. Hrvatski nacionalni program za prevenciju HIV-a/AIDS-a od 2011. do 2015. [National Program for HIV/AIDS prevention 2011-2015]: MoH Croatia; 2011. Available from: <a href="https://zdravlje.gov.hr/programi-i-projekti/nacionalni-programi-projekti-i-strategije/ostali-programi/hrvatski-nacionalni-program-za-prevenciju-hiv-a-aids-a-od-2011-do-2015/2199">https://zdravlje.gov.hr/programi-i-projekti/nacionalni-programi-i-projekti/nacionalni-programi-i-projekti/nacionalni-program-za-prevenciju-hiv-a-aids-a-od-2011-do-2015/2199</a>
- R Čivljak , Begovac J. Preporuke za prevenciju profesionalne ekspozicije zdravstvenih djelatnika infekcijama koje se prenose krvlju. [Recommendations for prevention of occupational exposure to health care workers with infections transmitted in blood]. Croatia; 2004. <u>http://www.unizg.hr/rektorova/upload\_2009/Procjena%20profesionalne%20izlozenosti%20djelatnika%20gin\_por%20o</u> <u>djela%20infekcijama%20koje%20se%20prenose%20krvlju.doc</u>
- 14. Národní program řešení problematiky HIV/AIDS v ČR 2013-2017 [The National Programme for HIV / AIDS in the Czech Republic 2013-2017]. Ministry of Health, Czech Republic; 2012. <u>http://www.mzcr.cz/obsah/narodni-program-reseni-problematiky-hiv/aids 1688 5.html</u>
- 15. Andersen PH. New Strategy for HIV Testing. http://www.ssi.dk/~/media/Indhold/EN%20-%20engelsk/EPI-NEWS/2009/pdf/EPI-NEWS%20-%202009%20-%20No%2046.ashx Department of Epidemiology, Statens Serum Institut, Denmark; 2009.
- 16. Sundhedsstyrelsen. Anbefalinger om forebyggelse, diagnose og behandling af seksuelt overførbare infektioner. <u>https://sundhedsstyrelsen.dk/da/udgivelser/2015/~/media/9881BB0E837B41DAAE0954A1A8D798B9.ashx</u> Denmark; 2015.
- 17. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. HIV testing local government briefing. UK; 2014 https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/lgb21/resources/hiv-testing-60521201854405
- 18. UK National Guidelines for HIV Testing 2008. British HIV Association, British Association of Sexual Health and HIV, British Infection Society. England 2008. <u>http://www.bhiva.org/documents/guidelines/testing/glineshivtest08.pdf</u>:
- 19. Eesti riiklik HIV ja AIDSi strateegia. Government of the Republic of Estonia, Estonia; 2005. <u>https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-</u> <u>editors/eesmargid ja tegevused/Tervis/eesti riiklik hiv ja aidsi strateegia.pdf</u>
- 20. Eds. Kirsi Littsola JK, et al. Suomen HIV-strategia, 2013-2016. [Finland HIV-strategia, 2013-2016]. National Institute for Health and Welfare, Finland; 2012. https://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/90918:

- 21. Henrikki Brummer-Korvenkontio EH-B, et al. . Hiv-testauksen periaatteita, Suositus perusterveydenhuollon toimipisteille ja matalan kynnyksen palvelupisteille. [The principles of HIV testing.The recommendation for basic health care work for points , and a low threshold]. National Institute for Health and Welfare, Finland; 2010. https://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/79951
- 22. Public health guidelines: HIV infection screening in France, laboratory tests and algorithms. Haute Autorité de Santé, France; 2008. <u>http://www.has-sante.fr/portail/upload/docs/application/pdf/2010-</u> 02/hiv infection screening in france - laboratory tests and algorithms-conclusions.pdf
- 23. Recommandations nn Santé Publique: Dépistage de l'infection par le VIH en France, Stratégies et dispositif de dépistage. [Public Health Recommendations: Screening for HIV infection in France, Strategies and screening system]. <u>High Authority of Health, France; 2009. http://social-sante.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/argumentaire\_depistage\_vih\_HAS\_2009-2.pdf</u>
- 24. ΝΟΣΗΜΑΤΩΝ ΓΗΑΛΚΣΜ. Κατευθυντήριες οδηγίες για τη διάγνωση της ΗΙV λοίμωξης σε κλινικά και μη κλινικά πλαίσια [Guidelines for the diagnosis of HIV infection in clinical and non-clinical settings]. In: ΚΕΝΤΡΟ ΕΛΕΓΧΟΥ ΚΑΙ ΠΡΟΛΗΨΗΣ ΝΟΣΗΜΑΤΩΝ ΥΥ, editor.: Greece; 2014.
- 25. AIDS strategy 2000, Report of the national AIDS Strategy Committee. Department of Health and Children, The Stationary Office, Ireland; 2000. <u>http://health.gov.ie/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/AIDS-Strategy-2000.pdf</u>
- 26. La conferenza permanente per i rapporti tra lo stato, le regioni e le province autonome di trento e bolanzo [The Standing Conference for relations between the state , the regions and the autonomous provinces of Trento and Bolanzo]. Ministry of Health, Italy.; 2011. <u>http://www.salute.gov.it/imgs/C\_17\_pubblicazioni\_1647\_allegato.pdf</u>
- 27. Conferenza di Consenso sul Test HIV: Quesiti e risposte [Consensus Conference on HIV Testing: Questions and Answers] 2012: Italy. <u>http://www.salute.gov.it/imgs/C 17 notizie 1265 listaFile itemName 6 file.pdf</u>
- 28. Cilvēka imūndeficīta vīrusa (HIV) infekcijas diagnostikas, ārstēšanas un profilakses klīniskās vadlīnijas [Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection diagnosis, treatment and prevention clinical guidelines]. Stacionārs Latvijas Infektoloģijas centrs, Vadlīniju izstrādes darba grupa. [stationary Latvian Infectology Center, Guidelines Task Force], Rīgas Austrumu klīniskās universitātes slimnīcas [Riga Eastern Clinical University Hospital, Latvia]; 2014. http://www.aidsmap.com/v635392872571130000/file/1187279/Cilv c4 93ka im c5 abndefic c4 abta v c4 abrusa HIV infekcijas diagnostikas c4 81rst c4 93 c5 a1anas un profilakses kl c4 abnisk c4 81s vadl c4 abnijas 2 014.pdf
- 29. Dzemdību palīdzības nodrošināšanas kārtība. [Procedures for obstetric care]. The Latvian Herald, Latvia; 2006. http://likumi.lv/doc.php?id=140695%20Procedures%20for%20obstetric%20care
- 30. Užkrečiamųjų ligų ir AIDS centras [Communicable Diseases and AIDS]. <u>www.ulac.lt:</u> Lithuania; 2015/2016.
- 31. Millieu Rvve. Nationaal soa/hiv plan 2012-2016 'Bestendigen en versterken' [National STI / HIV plan 2012-2016 -Consolidating and strengthening] In: ministerie van volkgezondheid wes, editor.: Rijksinstitut voor volksgezondheid en millieu. The Netherlands; 2011.
- 32. Wensing A, Heikens E, Mudrikova T. LCI-richtlijn Hivinfectie [LCI guideline for HIV infection ]. Ministerie van Volkgezondheid, Welzijn en Sport. Rijksinstitut Voor Volksgezondheid en Millieu. The Netherlands; 2014. http://www.rivm.nl/dsresource?objectid=rivmp:251392&type=org&disposition=inline&ns\_nc=1
- 33. Heijnen A, Hermanussen R. HIV verdieping naast de NHG-standaard "Het Soa-consult" [For GP: HIV floor next to the NHG – standard - sexually transmitted diseases ]. Huisarts Advise Groep Seksuele Gezondheid. The Netherlands; 2013. <u>https://www.nhg.org/sites/default/files/content/nhg\_org/uploads/standaard/download/20130903\_hivverdieping\_naast\_denhg-standaard\_het\_soa-consult\_def.pdf</u>
- 34. Nettbasert veileder i smittevern for kommunehelsetjenesten (Smittevernboka). In: Folkehelseinsituttet, editor. Folkehelseinstituttet, Norway; 2014. <u>www.fhi.no</u>
- 35. Aksept og mestring Nasjonal hivstrategi (2009-2014). Arbeids- og inkluderingsdepartementet, Barne- og likestillingsdepartementet, Helse- og omsorgsdepartementet, Justis og politidepartementet, Kunnskapsdepartementet, Miljøverndepartementet. Norway; 2009. <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/globalassets/upload/hod/dokumenter-fha/aksept-og-mestring-nasjonal-hivstrategi.pdf</u>
- Revitalisering og konkretisering (2013–2015), Tillegg til Nasjonal hivstrategi "Aksept og mestring". Arbeidsdepartementet, Barne-, likestillingsdepartementet og inkluderingsdepartementet Helse- og omsorgsdepartementet, Justis- og beredskapsdepartementet, Kunnskapsdepartementet, Miljøverndepartementet. Norway; 2013.
- 37. Harmonogram realizacji Krajowego Programu Zapobiegania Zakażeniom HIV i Zwalczania AIDS opracowany na lata 2012-2016. [Implementation Schedule of a National Program for Prevention of HIV Infections and Combating AIDS, developed for 2012-2016]. In: AIDS Ncf, editor. Minister of Health. Poland; 2011. http://www.aids.gov.pl/publikacje/171/
- 38. Diagnóstico e Rastreio Laboratorial da Infeção pelo Vírus da Imunodeficiência Humana (VIH) [Diagnostics and Laboratory Screening for infection with HIV]. In: Saúde] DoQihDdQn, editor. Medical health system [Médicos do Sistema de Saúde]. Portugal. <u>https://www.dgs.pt/directrizes-da-dgs/normas-e-circulares-normativas/norma-n-0582011de-28122011-jpg.aspx</u>

- 39. Gravidez e Vírus da Imunodeficiência Humana [Pregnancy and Human Immunodeficiency Virus]. In: Diseases DoC, editor. Direcção-Geral da Saúde Circular Normativa, Portugal; 2004. <u>http://www.saudereprodutiva.dgs.pt/normas-e-orientacoes/infeccoes-de-transmissao-sexual/gravidez-e-virus-da-imunodeficiencia-humana.aspx</u>
- 40. Legea nr. 584/2002 privind măsurile de prevenire a răspândirii maladiei SIDA în România şi de protecţie a persoanelor infectate cu HIV sau bolnave de SIDA [Law no. 584/2002 on measures to prevent the spread of AIDS in Romania and to protect persons infected with HIV or suffering from AIDS]. In editor.: Romania; 2002. http://www.cnlas.ro/legislatie.html
- 41. Programme: Strengthening the prevention and control of HIV/AIDS, HVB, HVC in Romania 2009-2014. National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Bucharest, Romania, 2009. <u>http://www.mateibals.ro/pnorv\_eng/despreProject.html</u>
- 42. Národný program prevencie HIV/AIDS v Slovenskej republike na roky 2013 2016. [National Programme for HIV / AIDS in the Slovak Republic for the years 2013 2016] Slovakia; 2013.
- 43. Bassi SS, Bland JM, Martin F. High rates of fatality due to AIDS without universal HIV testing. Journal of AIDS and Clinical Research. 2014;5(4).
- 44. Manirankunda L, Loos J, Debackaere P, Nöstlinger C. "It is not easy": Challenges for provider-initiated HIV testing and counseling in Flanders, Belgium. AIDS Education and Prevention. 2012;24(5):456-68.
- 45. Menacho I, Sequeira E, Muns M, Barba O, Leal L, Clusa T, et al. Comparison of two HIV testing strategies in primary care centres: Indicator-condition-guided testing vs. testing of those with non-indicator conditions. HIV Medicine. 2013;14(SUPPL.3):33-7.
- 46. Mujyambere P. Barriers to HIV voluntary counselling and testing among refugees and asylum seekers from African Great Lakes region living in Durban [thesis]. Stellenbosch [South Africa]: Stellenbosch University, 2012.
- 47. Zangerle R, Touloumi G, Warszawski J, Meyer L, Dabis F, Krause MM, et al. Delayed HIV diagnosis and initiation of antiretroviral therapy: Inequalities by educational level, COHERE in EuroCoord. AIDS. 2014;28(15):2297-306.
- 48. Nicolini LA, Taramasso L, Schiavetti I, Giannini EG, Beltrame A, Feasi M, et al. Epidemiological and clinical features of hepatitis delta in HBsAg-positive patients by HIV status. Antiviral Therapy. 2015;20(2):193-7.
- 49. Deblonde J, Sasse A, Del Amo J, Burns F, Delpech V, Cowan S, et al. Restricted access to antiretroviral treatment for undocumented migrants: a bottle neck to control the HIV epidemic in the EU/EEA. BMC Public Health. 2015;15(1):1228.
- 50. Xhani B, Refetllari B, Puca E, Pilaca A, Shkurti K, Dudushi R, et al. The prevalence of HIV and the role of immigration in Albania. Journal of Microbiology and Infectious Diseases. 2015;1(5):110-3.
- 51. Goosen S, Hoebe CJPA, Waldhober Q, Kunst AE. High HIV prevalence among asylum seekers who gave birth in the Netherlands: A nationwide study based on antenatal HIV tests. PLoS ONE. 2015;10(8).
- 52. Leber W, Anderson J, Griffiths C. HIV testing in Europe: How can primary care contribute? Sexually Transmitted Infections. 2015;91(7):464-5.
- 53. Likatavicius G, van de Laar MJW. HIV and AIDS in the European Union, 2009. Eurosurveillance. 2010;15(48).
- 54. Fernández-Balbuena S, Belza MJ, Urdaneta E, Esteso R, Rosales-Statkus ME, de la Fuente L. Serving the underserved: an HIV testing program for populations reluctant to attend conventional settings. International Journal of Public Health. 2014;60(1):121-6.
- 55. Fernández-Balbuena S, Marcos H, Pérez-Rubio A, Hoyos J, Belza MJ, de la Fuente L. The rapid test in Spanish pharmacies: A novel programme to reach heterosexual men? HIV Medicine. 2015;16(6):362-9.
- 56. Frankis J, Flowers P, Lorimer K, Davis M. 5.6. Implications for Service Provision in Lanarkshire. Social Media, Men who have Sex with Men and Sexual Health in Lanarkshire. [Scotland]: [s.n]; 2013. p. 160-5.
- 57. Hoyos Miller J, Fernández-Balbuena S, Belza Egozcue MJ, García De Olalla P, Pulido Manzanero J, Molist Señe G, et al. Time devoted to pre- and post-HIV test counselling in different health services according to participants of a rapid testing program in Madrid, Spain. Enfermedades Infecciosas y Microbiologia Clinica. 2014;32(2):82-6.
- 58. Janiec J, Haar K, Spiteri G, Likatavicius G, Van de Laar M, Amato-Gauci AJ. Surveillance of human immunodeficiency virus suggests that younger men who have sex with men are at higher risk of infection, European union, 2003 to 2012. Eurosurveillance. 2013;18(48).
- 59. Kall MM, Smith RD, Delpech VC. Late HIV diagnosis in Europe: A call for increased testing and awareness among general practitioners. European Journal of General Practice. 2012;18(3):181-6.
- 60. Moreno S, Ordobás M, Sanz JC, Ramos B, Astray J, Ortiz M, et al. Prevalence of undiagnosed HIV infection in the general population having blood tests within primary care in Madrid, Spain. Sexually Transmitted Infections. 2012;88(7):522-4.
- 61. Nakagawa F, Phillips AN, Lundgren JD. Update on HIV in Western Europe. Current HIV/AIDS Reports. 2014;11(2):177-85.

- 62. Oliva J, Díez M, Galindo S, Cevallos C, Izquierdo A, Cereijo J, et al. Predictors of advanced disease and late presentation in new HIV diagnoses reported to the surveillance system in Spain. Gaceta Sanitaria. 2014;28(2):116-22.
- 63. Parisi MR, Soldini L, Vidoni G, Clemente F, Mabellini C, Belloni T, et al. Cross-sectional study of community serostatus to highlight undiagnosed HIV infections with oral fluid HIV-1/2 rapid test in non-conventional settings. New Microbiologica. 2013;36(2):121-32.
- 64. Pillay TD, Mullineux J, Smith CJ, Matthews P. Unlocking the potential: Longitudinal audit finds multifaceted education for general practice increases HIV testing and diagnosis. Sexually Transmitted Infections. 2013;89(3):191-6.
- 65. Puljić VM, Ličina MLK, Kavić M, Blažić TN. Repeat HIV testing at voluntary testing and counseling centers in Croatia: Successful HIV prevention or failure to modify risk behaviors? PLoS ONE. 2014;9(4).
- 66. Søgaard OS, Lohse N, Østergaard L, Kronborg G, Røge B, Gerstoft J, et al. Morbidity and risk of subsequent diagnosis of HIV: A population based case control study identifying indicator diseases for HIV infection. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(3).
- 67. Sprenger M. Know, treat, prevent HIV testing, a key strategy in the prevention and control of the HIV/AIDS epidemic. Eurosurveillance. 2010;15(48).
- 68. Ti L, Hayashi K, Kaplan K, Suwannawong P, Wood E, Montaner J, et al. Willingness to access peer-delivered HIV testing and counseling among people who inject drugs in Bangkok, Thailand. Journal of Community Health. 2013;38(3):427-33.
- 69. Villaamil F. Bodies, virus and moral economies: The HIV test. Politica y Sociedad. 2013;50(3):865-92.
- 70. Vives N, Carnicer-Pont D, Garcí a de Olalla P, Camps N, Esteve A, Casabona J. Factors associated with late presentation of HIV infection in Catalonia, Spain. International Journal of STD and AIDS. 2012;23(7):475-80.
- 71. Chocarro Martínez A, Ochoa Sangrador C, Brezmes Valdivieso MP, Martín Gómez C. Cribado de la infección por el virus de la inmunodeficiencia humana en Atención Primaria: aceptación por pacientes y médicos. Enfermedades Infecciosas y Microbiologia Clinica. 2015;33(6):426-8.
- 72. Cayuelas-Redondo L, Menacho-Pascual I, Noguera-Sánchez P, Goicoa-Gago C, Pollio-Peña G, Blanco-Delgado R, et al. Solicitud de VIH en condiciones indicadoras en atención primaria: resultados de una colaboración. Enfermedades Infecciosas y Microbiología Clínica. 2015.
- 73. Lallenec LM, Currie BJ, Baird RW, Pitman M, Ryder N. HIV testing rate increased following recommendation of routine screening of acute medical admissions at Royal Darwin Hospital. Sexual Health. 2015;12(5):433-8.
- 74. van Bergen JE. Normalizing HIV testing in primary care. Commentary on: Late HIV diagnoses in Europe: a call for increased testing and awareness among general practitioners. Eur J Gen Pract. 2012 Sep;18(3):133-5.
- 75. Flowers P, Knussen C, Li J, McDaid L. Has testing been normalized? An analysis of changes in barriers to HIV testing among men who have sex with men between 2000 and 2010 in Scotland, UK. HIV Medicine. 2013;14(2):92-8.
- Hoyos J, Fernández-Balbuena S, De La Fuente L, Sordo L, Ruiz M, Barrio G, et al. Never tested for HIV in Latin-American migrants and Spaniards: Prevalence and perceived barriers. Journal of the International AIDS Society. 2013;16.
- 77. Agustí C, Fernández L, Mascort J, Carrillo R, Casabona J. Problems in diagnosing sexually transmitted infections and human immunodeficiency virus in primary health care in Spain. Enfermedades Infecciosas y Microbiologia Clinica. 2013;31(7):451-4.
- 78. Agustí C, Fernàndez-López L, Mascort J, Carrillo R, Aguado C, Montoliu A, et al. Attitudes to rapid HIV testing among Spanish General Practitioners. HIV Medicine. 2013;14(SUPPL.3):53-6.
- Agustí C, Fernàndez-López L, Mascort J, Carrillo R, Aguado C, Montoliu A, et al. Acceptability of rapid HIV diagnosis technology among primary healthcare practitioners in Spain. AIDS Care - Psychological and Socio-Medical Aspects of AIDS/HIV. 2013;25(5):544-9.
- 80. Agustí C, Mascort J, Carrillo R, Casabona J. Early detection of HIV infection in a primary care setting. Atencion Primaria. 2012;44(12):689-90.
- 81. Alvarez-del Arco D, Monge S, Azcoaga A, Rio I, Hernando V, Gonzalez C, et al. HIV testing and counselling for migrant populations living in high-income countries: a systematic review. Eur J Public Health. 2013 Dec;23(6):1039-45.
- 82. Arco DAD, Monge S, Caro-Murillo AM, Ramïrez-Rubio O, Azcoaga-Lorenzo A, Belza MJ, et al. HIV testing policies for migrants and ethnic minorities in EU/EFTA Member States. European Journal of Public Health. 2013;24(1):139-44.
- 83. Bolúmar-Montero F, Fuster-Ruiz De Apodaca MJ, Weaitt M, Alventosa J, Del Amo J. Time trends, characteristics, and evidence of scientific advances within the legal complaints for alleged sexual HIV transmission in Spain: 1996-2012. AIDS Care - Psychological and Socio-Medical Aspects of AIDS/HIV. 2015;27(4):529-35.
- 84. Bozicevic I, Lepej SZ, Rode OD, Grgic I, Jankovic P, Dominkovic Z, et al. Prevalence of HIV and sexually transmitted infections and patterns of recent HIV testing among men who have sex with men in Zagreb, Croatia. Sexually Transmitted Infections. 2012;88(7):539-44.

- 85. Campo J, Cano J, del Romero J, Hernando V, del Amo J, Moreno S. Role of the dental surgeon in the early detection of adults with underlying HIV infection / AIDS. Medicina Oral, Patologia Oral y Cirugia Bucal. 2012;17(3):e401-e8.
- 86. Carvalho C, Fuertes R, Lucas R, Martins A, Campos M, Mendão L, et al. HIV testing among Portuguese men who have sex with men results from the European MSM Internet Survey (EMIS). HIV Medicine. 2013;14(SUPPL.3):15-8.
- 87. Cayuelas-Redondo L, Menacho-Pascual I, Noguera-Sánchez P, Goicoa-Gago C, Pollio-Peña G, Blanco-Delgado R, et al. Indicator condition guided human immunodeficiency virus requesting in primary health care: Results of a collaboration. Enfermedades Infecciosas y Microbiologia Clinica. 2014.
- 88. de la Fuente L, Rosales-Statkus ME, Hoyos J, Pulido J, Santos S, Bravo MJ, et al. Are Participants in a Street-Based HIV Testing Program Able to Perform Their Own Rapid Test and Interpret the Results? PLoS ONE. 2012;7(10).
- 89. De Olalla PG, Molas E, Barberà MJ, Martín S, Arellano E, Gosch M, et al. Effectiveness of a pilot partner notification program for new HIV cases in Barcelona, Spain. PLoS ONE. 2015;10(4).
- Deblonde J, Hamers FF, Callens S, Lucas R, Barros H, Rüütel K, et al. HIV testing practices as reported by HIV-infected patients in four European countries. AIDS Care - Psychological and Socio-Medical Aspects of AIDS/HIV. 2014;26(4):487-96.
- 91. Desai M, Desai S, Sullivan AK, Mohabeer M, Mercey D, Kingston MA, et al. Audit of HIV testing frequency and behavioural interventions for men who have sex with men: Policy and practice in sexual health clinics in England. Sexually Transmitted Infections. 2013;89(5):404-8.
- 92. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. Prevencija i nadzor zaraznih bolesti među intravenskim korisnicima droga: ECDC, EMCDDA; 2011. Available from: http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/attachements.cfm/att\_189266\_HR\_EMCDDA\_ECDC%20Guidance%20CRO.pdf.
- 93. Fernández-Balbuena S, De La Fuente L, Hoyos J, Rosales-Statkus E, Barrio G, Belza MJ. Highly visible street-based HIV rapid testing: Is it an attractive option for a previously untested population? A cross-sectional study. Sexually Transmitted Infections. 2014;90(2):112-8.
- 94. Golden RE, Collins CB, Cunningham SD, Newman EN, Card JJ. Best evidence structural interventions for HIV prevention. Dordrecht: Springer; 2013. 361 p.
- 95. Ha S, Paquette D, Tarasuk J, Dodds J, Gale-Rowe M, Brooks JI, et al. A systematic review of HIV testing among Canadian populations. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 2014;105(1):e53-e62.
- 96. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. HIV and STI prevention among men who have sex with men. Stockholm: ECDC; 2015. Available from: <u>http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/hiv-sti-prevention-among-men-who-have-sex-with-men-guidance.pdf</u>.
- 97. Jarrin I, Pantazis N, Gill MJ, Geskus R, Perez-Hoyos S, Meyer L, et al. Uptake of combination antiretroviral therapy and HIV disease progression according to geographical origin in seroconverters in Europe, Canada, and Australia. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2012;54(1):111-8.
- 98. Mena A, Moldes L, Meijide H, Cañizares A, Castro-Iglesias Á, Delgado M, et al. Seroprevalence of HCV and HIV infections by year of birth in Spain: Impact of US CDC and USPSTF recommendations for HCV and HIV testing. PLoS ONE. 2014;9(12).
- 99. Montesinos I, Eykmans J, Delforge ML. Evaluation of the Bio-Rad Geenius HIV-1/2 test as a confirmatory assay. Journal of Clinical Virology. 2014;60(4):399-401.
- 100. Olson AD, Guiguet M, Zangerle R, Gill J, Perez-Hoyos S, Lodi S, et al. Evaluation of rapid progressors in HIV infection as an extreme phenotype. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 2014;67(1):15-21.
- 101. Pillay TD, Mullineux J, Smith CJ, Matthews P. Unlocking the potential: Longitudinal audit finds multifaceted education for general practice increases HIV testing and diagnosis. Postgraduate Medical Journal. 2014;90(1060):86-91.
- 102. Qvist T, Cowan SA, Graugaard C, Helleberg M. High linkage to care in a community-based rapid HIV testing and counseling project among men who have sex with men in copenhagen. Sexually Transmitted Diseases. 2014;41(3):209-14.
- 103. Raben D, Delpech V, de Wit J, Sullivan A, Lazarus J, Dedes N, et al. Conclusions from the HIV in Europe Copenhagen 2012 Conference and ways forward: Working together for optimal HIV testing and earlier care. HIV Medicine. 2013;14(SUPPL.3):1-5.
- 104. Reyes-Uruenaa JM, Noori T, Pharris A, Jansa JM. New times for migrants' health in Europe. Revista Española de Sanidad Penitenciaria. 2014;16(2).
- 105. Rosenbrock R, Schmidt AJ. Aids. New challenges for social and medical prevention. Bundesgesundheitsblatt -Gesundheitsforschung - Gesundheitsschutz. 2012;55(4):535-42.
- 106. Salfa MC, Regine V, Bruning AHL, Ferri M, Camoni L, Raimondo M, et al. Sexually Transmitted Diseases among Italian Women in 1991-2011. British Journal of Medicine and Medical Research. 2015;5(1).
- 107. AK Sullivan DR, J Reekie et al. Feasibility and effectiveeness of indicator condition-guided testing for HIV: results from HIDES I (HIV indicator diseases across Europe study). PloS One. 2013;8(1).

- 108. Thornton AC, Rayment M, Elam G, Atkins M, Jones R, Nardone A, et al. Exploring staff attitudes to routine HIV testing in non-traditional settings: A qualitative study in four healthcare facilities. Sexually Transmitted Infections. 2012;88(8):601-6.
- 109. Tiittala PJ, Kivelä PS, Ristola MA, Surcel HM, Koponen PMS, Mölsä M, et al. Achieving high acceptability of HIV testing in a population-based survey among immigrants in Finland. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health. 2015;43(4):393-8.
- 110. Tshuma N, Muloongo K, Setswe G, Chimoyi L, Sarfo B, Burger D, et al. Potential barriers to rapid testing for human immunodeficiency virus among a commuter population in Johannesburg, South Africa. HIV/AIDS Research and Palliative Care. 2014;7:11-9.
- 111. Villaamil F. Shared Embarrassment: (Not) Talking about Sex in HIV-Related Doctor-Patient Encounters. Medical Anthropology: Cross Cultural Studies in Health and Illness. 2014;33(4):335-50.
- 112. Wouters K, Fransen K, Beelaert G, Kenyon C, Platteau T, Van Ghyseghem C, et al. Use of rapid HIV testing in a low threshold centre in Antwerp, Belgium, 2007–2012. International Journal of STD and AIDS. 2014;25(13):936-42.
- 113. Alvarez-Del Arco D, Monge S, Rivero-Montesdeoca Y, Burns F, Noori T, Del Amo J. [Implementing and expanding HIV testing in immigrant populations in Europe: Comparing guideline's recommendations and expert's opinions]. Enferm Infecc Microbiol Clin. 2015 Oct 16.
- 114. Reyes-Uruena J, Fernandez-Lopez L, Force L, Daza M, Agusti C, Casabona J. [Level of impact on the public health of universal human immunodeficiency virus screening in an Emergency Department]. Enferm Infecc Microbiol Clin. 2015 Sep 1.
- 115. Protogerou AD, Fransen J, Zampeli E, Argyris AA, Aissopou E, Arida A, et al. The additive value of femoral ultrasound for subclinical atherosclerosis assessment in a single center cohort of 962 adults, including high risk patients with rheumatoid arthritis, Human Immunodeficiency Virus infection and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. PLoS ONE. 2015;10(7).
- 116. Fernández-Balbuena S, Belza MJ, Zulaica D, Martinez JL, Marcos H, Rifá B, et al. Widening the access to HIV testing: The contribution of three in-pharmacy testing programmes in Spain. PLoS ONE. 2015;10(8).
- 117. Deblonde J, Meulemans H, Callens S, Luchters S, Temmerman M, Hamers FF. HIV testing in Europe: Mapping policies. Health Policy. 2011;103(2-3):101-10.
- 118. Gökengin D, Geretti AM, Begovac J, Palfreeman A, Stevanovic M, Tarasenko O, et al. 2014 European Guideline on HIV testing. International journal of STD & AIDS. 2014;25(10):695-704.
- 119. Wild C, Dellinger J. Universal HIV-testing in health care settings: International guideline recommendations and actual occupational risks of HIV-infections for health care workers. Wiener Medizinische Wochenschrift. 2013;163(23-24):519-27.
- 120. Bell SA, Delpech V, Casabona J, Tsereteli N, de Wit J. Delivery of HIV test results, post-test discussion and referral in health care settings: A review of guidance for European countries. HIV Medicine. 2015;16(10):620-7.
- 121. A Rodger TB, V Cambiano, J Lundgren, et al. HIV Transmission Risk Through Condomless Sex If HIV+ Partner On Suppressive ART: PARTNER Study. Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections (CROI 2014). Abstract 153LB. 2014 March 3-6 2014.
- 122. Group TISS. Initiation of Antiretroviral Therapy in Early Asymptomatic HIV Infection. The NEW ENGLAND JOURNAL of MEDICINE. 2015;373(9):795-807.
- 123. Använding av hivtester med snabbsvar [Use of HIV testing with rapid response]. In: Smittskyddsinstitutet, editor.: Folkhälsomyndigheten, Sweden; 2013.
- 124. World Health Organization. Consolidtated guidelines on HIV testing services. Geneva. 2015.